

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

4-10-2024

# Strategies for Integrating Open Innovation Practices for Small Businesses

Shannon Stewart Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

### Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

**Shannon Stewart** 

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Erica Gamble, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Isabel Wan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

#### Abstract

Strategies for Integrating Open Innovation Practices for Small Businesses

by

**Shannon Stewart** 

MS, Bethel University, 2014

BS, Bethel University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

#### **Abstract**

Some small business owners lack implementation strategies for open innovation. Small business owners who can successfully implement open strategies can increase the opportunity for success. Grounded in the ten types of innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners use to successfully implement open innovation. The participants comprised three small business owners from West Tennessee who successfully used strategies for open innovation. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and analyzed using thematic analysis. The three emerging themes were strategic and continuous development, risk management, and sustaining a culture of innovation. A key recommendation is for small business owners to provide a positive work environment that embraces open innovation to create a competitive advantage in the marketplace which may lead to long-term sustainability. The implications for positive social change include the potential for sustainability of small, rural business owners, which would support local communities through job creation, job sustainability, and economic development.

#### Strategies for Integrating Open Innovation Practices for Small Businesses

by

**Shannon Stewart** 

MS, Bethel University, 2014

BS, Bethel University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2024

#### Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my best friend, my loving wife, and my soul's true counterpart, Elizabeth. Thank you for the many gifts you have given me, the love, the tenderness, the generosity, and your honesty. I could never have come this far without you. I also dedicate this accomplishment to my mother-in-law, Charity, and my father-in-law, Dwayne for allowing me to be a part of your wonderful family. Finally, this dedication is for my past, current, and future students and those who endeavor "to be the change you wish to see in the world."

#### Acknowledgments

My doctoral journey could not have been completed without the unwavering support of my chair, Dr. Erica Gamble. I would also like to thank my committee co-chair, Dr. Isabel Wan for her constructive feedback that added value to produce a quality study. I cannot express my gratitude enough to Dr. Youlanda Jones and Dr. Jacquene Rainey for providing the opportunity to turn my dream into a reality. Finally, I would like to recognize my classmates for their support throughout this academic journey.

#### Table of Contents

Lis	it of Tablesi	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	1
	Nature of the Study	2
	Research Question	3
	Interview Questions	3
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	5
	Assumptions.	5
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	6
	Significance of the Study	6
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	7
	Ten Types of Innovation Framework	8
	Ten Types of Innovation Implementation	4
	Economic Impact on Small Businesses	7
	Failures of Small Businesses	9
	Sustainability of Small Businesses	5
	Sustainability Strategies of Small Businesses	6

	Innovation in Small Businesses Sustainability	33
	Transition	35
Se	ction 2: The Project	37
	Purpose Statement	37
	Role of the Researcher	37
	Participants	4(
	Research Method and Design	41
	Research Method	41
	Research Design	42
	Population and Sampling	43
	Ethical Research.	45
	Data Collection Instruments	46
	Data Collection Technique	48
	Data Organization Technique	49
	Data Analysis	50
	Reliability and Validity	52
	Reliability	52
	Validity	54
	Transition and Summary	56
Se	ction 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	57
	Presentation of the Findings	57
	Theme 1: Strategic and Continuous Development	57

Theme 2: Risk Management	61
Theme 3: Culture of Innovation Sustainability	63
Applications to Professional Practice	66
Implications for Social Change	66
Recommendations for Action	67
Recommendations for Further Research	67
Reflections	68
Conclusion	68
References	70
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	107
Appendix B: Interview Ouestions	108

#### List of Tables

Table 1. Participants' Responses Related to Strategic and Continuous Development	. 58
Table 2. Participants' Responses Related to Risk Management	61
Table 3. Participants' Responses Related to Innovation Culture	64

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In the United States, small businesses represent the largest segment of the workforce but many fail within the first 5 years of operation (Cepec & Grajzl, 2020). The rate of small business failure can be detrimental to the national, state, and local economies (Ertel, 2019). Approximately 51% of small businesses fail with the first 5 years, creating the need for small business owners to develop successful sustainable strategies (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2020). These high failure rates can be contributed to poorly developed sustainable strategies (Madureira & Torre, 2022). In this qualitative multiple-case study, I explored strategies needed to successfully implement open innovation to achieve sustainability.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Small business owners employ most employees within the labor force of the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration [SBA] Office of Advocacy, 2023). Small business owners need to develop sustainability strategies to help strengthen the U.S. economy and preserve its standing within the global economies (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022). Small business owners located in the United States fail to successfully develop and implement sustainable strategies 50% of the time (Madureira & Torre, 2022). Small business owners who wish to achieve long-term sustainability should develop the necessary skills to develop successful strategies.

#### **Problem and Purpose**

Small business owners can anticipate a 51% fail rate within the first 5 years of operation (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2020). Organizations

that do not implement innovation because of political and cultural reasons have a 50% fail rate (Ertel, 2019); however, with the integration of open innovation, businesses may increase their opportunity for success (McCausland, 2020). The general business problem is that some small business owners fail to implement innovation to adapt to changes and needs in their local economy. The specific business problem is that some small business owners often lack the necessary strategies to successfully implement open innovation.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners use to successfully implement open innovation. The target population consisted of owners of small businesses with fewer than 20 employees in rural Tennessee. The implication for positive social change includes the potential for increased sustainability of small businesses by potentially increasing revenue, which may create employment opportunities and economic development in the surrounding community.

#### **Nature of the Study**

The three methodologies of research are quantitative, mixed method, and qualitative (Madureira & Torre, 2022). Researchers use the quantitative methodology to evaluate a phenomenon through statistical testing of numerical data (Madureira & Torre, 2022). The quantitative method was not appropriate because I did not conduct statistical data analyses between small business strategies and open innovation. Researchers use mixed methodology to combine qualitative research and quantitative research into a single study (Madureira & Torre, 2022). The mixed method was not appropriate because I did not gather quantitative variables for statistical analyses. Researchers use qualitative methodology to explore a phenomenon through participant collaboration (Ayaya &

Pretorius, 2021). The qualitative method was appropriate because I explored innovation implementation strategies for small business owners. I conducted a case study by gathering data from interviews with small business owners.

The qualitative research designs include phenomenological, ethnographic, grounded theory, and case studies (Widner et al., 2022). A phenomenological researcher explores a phenomenon from the participant's perspective using philosophical and methodological approaches (Makri & Neely, 2021). The phenomenological design was not appropriate because I explored innovation implementation strategies for small business owners. An ethnographic researcher explores a phenomenon from a cultural perspective (Avle et al., 2019). The ethnographic design was not appropriate because I did not explore small business culture. A grounded theory researcher explores a phenomenon without a specified research question (Bundtzen & Hinrichs, 2021). I presented a specific research question and did not use a grounded theory design. Finally, a case study researcher explores a specific and complex phenomenon (Widner et al., 2022). The case study design was appropriate because I explored innovation implementation strategies for small business owners.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do small business owners use to implement open innovation?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. How would you define the term *open innovation*?
- 2. What skills do you think are necessary to implement open innovation strategies into your current business model?

- 3. What specific strategies would you use to implement open innovation into your current business model?
- 4. What adjustments to the strategies would you make if the open innovation implementation was not successful?
- 5. How could open innovation potentially create a competitive market advantage for businesses that have developed successful implementation strategies?
- 6. How could open innovation potentially create long-term sustainability for small businesses?
- 7. Is there anything about open innovation that we have not already discussed that you would like to include?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

I explored the ten types of innovation theory (TTIT) to identify potentially successful strategies that small business owners who wish to achieve long-term sustainability could use to implement innovations. In 2013, Keeley et al. introduced TTIT to expand on the understanding of innovation development and implementation. Many small business owners believe investments in research and development (R&D) are the only ways to create innovation and do not pursue innovation because of limited resources (Zhang, 2022). Small business owners often do not understand the primary driver for innovations in governmental regulations that may cause disruptions in the supply chain which cannot be resolved only through R&D (Clausen et al., 2022). TTIT is a methodology that provides a broader view of innovation development and implementation (Ren, 2022). TTIT can be used to increase the small business owner's

ability to transform their business by increasing their competitiveness, which is a leading contributor to achieving long-term sustainability (Tyapukhin, 2022). I used this conceptual framework to facilitate an understanding of innovation types, development, and implementation that potentially could impact small business' long-term sustainability.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Competitive advantage: Competitive advantage is the result of reducing operating costs through effective strategy development that increases sustainability and profits (Luamba et al., 2021).

*Design thinking*: Design thinking is the process a small business generates solutions for existing and future challenges by applying innovation (Liedtka, 2018).

*Innovation*: Innovation is the essential driver for the development and productivity of any economic activity (Królak et al., 2022).

Sustainability: Sustainability is the operation of a small business beyond 5 years due to the owner's ability to develop effective growth strategies (Preghenella & Battistella, 2021).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

Assumptions are constructs that are accepted as accuracies without the validity of the proof that can be influenced by societal, historical, political, or cultural factors (Wolgemuth et al., 2022). The primary assumption of this study was that each participant had a thorough understanding of open innovation. An additional assumption of this study

was that each participant provided answers to the interview questions that are reliable, trustworthy, and honest.

#### Limitations

Limitations are boundaries of the research design that may compromise the validity of the findings (Greener, 2018). The study's primary limitation was the education level of the participants due to the lack of understanding of strategic development. The second limitation of this study was the availability of the participants but could be resolved by the usage of various online collaboration software packages, such as Microsoft Teams or Zoom meetings. The final limitation of this study was the sample size and location of the participants.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are restrictions selected by researchers to define the range of the study within the context of conceptual frameworks (Vilkaité-Vaitoné & Sologubas, 2019). Delimitations are boundaries or restrictions that limit the scope of the research (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). This research study contained two delimitations. The first delimitation of this study was identifying participants with knowledge about successful strategies to achieve long-term sustainability by implementing open innovation. The second delimitation of this study was the size of businesses that were selected to participate in the study. I restricted the scope of the study to a selection of small business owners in Tennessee with fewer than 10 employees.

#### **Significance of the Study**

This study has potential value to small business owners because researchers have

identified strategies that have proven successful when implementing innovation. Identifying successful innovation implementation strategies could enhance the understanding that small business owners have on identifying and incorporating the necessary skills to implement innovation strategies successfully. Innovation implementation strategies could potentially increase profits and extend the lifespan of their business beyond the expected 5 years (Barham et al., 2020) and assist in boosting small businesses' success, profit, and performance (Ollila & Yström, 2020). Small business owners who develop strategies that implement innovation could achieve increased profits or long-term sustainability.

The success of small businesses can contribute to social change by improving the local economy for the benefit of the whole community (Castro-Arce & Vanclay, 2020). Small business owners can create jobs, generate tax revenue, and decrease unemployment. The tax revenue that small businesses generate could fund various social programs that positively impact their recipients.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small business owners use to implement forms of open innovation successfully. Small business owners need to identify the potential impact of open innovation on increasing sustainability. To retrieve peer-reviewed and seminal articles, I used the Walden University library database, Walden University Thoreau search engine, Business Source Complete, EBSCOhost, ProQuest, Google Scholar, ResearchGate, ScienceDirect, and other online websites as primary sources for research. I used Ulrich's Periodicals

Directory to determine if my journal references are peer-reviewed sources. To locate relevant research materials, I used the following keywords and phrases: *innovation theory, open innovation, innovativeness, innovation management, strategic management, innovation strategies, innovation barriers, small business sustainability, small business failure, competitive advantage, vertical innovative integration, and crowdsourcing.* Sixtyfour percent of the 180 proposal sources have publication dates ranging from 2019 to 2023.

I begin my literature review by examining the TTIT and the numerous possible ways to implement open innovation in small businesses. The economic impact and resulting importance of small businesses in the local and national economy will follow, emphasizing the role filled in creating employment opportunities and quality of life. I address the failure, success rates, and challenges of small businesses and conclude the literature review with a discussion of open innovation implementations to sustain and create a customer base.

#### **Ten Types of Innovation Framework**

The ten types of innovation was used to explore the strategies small business owners can use to implement innovation because it integrates internal and external ideas and paths to advance the development of small business innovation owners can use as a strategic planning tool (Keeley et al., 2013). I explored research on operational strategies small business owners use to implement innovations within this framework. Small business owners can use this strategic planning tool to learn how innovations align with their strategic goals (Barham et al., 2020). Small business owners could create new

innovations, analyze existing innovations, or examine competitors' innovations by utilizing these frameworks (Orlova, 2020). The ten types of innovation frameworks could be helpful when small business owners want to improve their business's performance by implementing multiple types of innovation. Innovations could assist small business owners in utilizing external ideologies and research that reduce costs, time, and risks to develop new products or services (Barham, et al., 2020). Innovations could help small business owners create a highly productive work environment that attracts a highly skilled workforce (Yuniarty et al., 2021). The development and implementation of innovation are time-consuming and small business owners should exert patience when evaluating success. Small business owners who possess a fundamental knowledge of this framework could develop an understanding of why innovations succeed or fail (Barham et al., 2020). Small business owners who want to achieve a competitive advantage resulting in long-term sustainability can utilize this framework to understand how to implement innovations to achieve this goal.

Researchers who examine the connectivity between innovations and business performance could use this framework to formulate conclusions regardless of the business size. Researchers who desire to understand the interrelationship of innovations and small business strategies could divide innovations into three of the framework's three primary categories: configuration, offering, and experience (Keeley et al., 2013). The configuration category focuses on the business system as a whole and has four subcategories: profit model, network, structure, and process. The offering category focuses on the core products or services and has two subcategories: product performance

and product system. The experience category focuses on the customer base and has four subcategories: service, channel, brand, and customer engagement. The three primary types are identified with internal aspects of innovation initiatives, while the 10 subcategories identify with external elements of innovation initiates.

#### Configuration

The primary focus of the configuration category is the internal business system. The configuration category is divided into four subcategories: profit model, network, structure, and process (Orlova, 2020). The profit model framework allows small business owners to explore new ideas for converting innovations into cash by researching what to offer, how to price, or how to collect revenues (Leon et al., 2020). The primary components are premium prices, auctions, metered usage, and subscription tactics (Barrett et al., 2021). This framework can improve performance by identifying internal resource limitations (Ferreras-Méndez et al., 2021). For example, animosity and patriotism are two consumer behaviors that result in changing current products or services (Areiza-Padilla et al., 2021). This framework must align with strategic planning more than other innovation frameworks (Ferreira et al. 2020). Since each small business is unique, this framework has no universal application. Small business owners often fail to successfully implement this framework due to the high level of risk and uncertainty (Latifi et al., 2021). Slow market growth may be encountered when small business owners introduce new products or services to customers.

Using the network framework allows small business owners to capitalize on their strengths by forming collaborations between a business, vendors, suppliers, and

competitors (Leon et al., 2020). The partnerships could use open innovation, secondary markets, and franchises to reduce supply chain costs (Barrett et al., 2021). This framework reduces risks and expenses by utilizing the capabilities and assets of others (Castro-Arce & Vanclay, 2020). The small business's core values should be consistent with potential partners using this framework.

Using the structure framework allows business owners to organize tangible and intangible assets to create value (Leon et al., 2020). The creation and standardization of incentive systems and training protocols assist business owners with business training (Barrett et al., 2021). Fixed expenses, such as human resources, research and development, and information technology, are improved by this framework (Mahmud et al., 2021). Using the structure framework assists business owners in creating a workplace environment that is difficult to replicate for its competitors.

Using the process framework could allow small business owners to identify the activities that produce primary offerings by utilizing their capabilities, functions, adaptability, and market position (Leon et al., 2020). Lean production, process standardization, and predictive analytics are helpful tools to improve vertical integration (Barrett et al., 2021). Small business owners could create patents and proprietary innovations by effectively implementing this framework (Maitlo et al., 2021). A competitive advantage could occur when the competition cannot easily replicate a business's proprietary features or design ideas.

#### Offering

The primary focus of the offering category is the business's core products or

services. The offering category contains the product performance and system subcategories (Orlova, 2020). Small business owners may justify the implementation of innovations to their various stakeholders by sharing market analyses and empirical research data. Kivimaa et al. (2021) developed a questionnaire to identify why innovations occur, the changes in the market and industry, consumer buying patterns, and nontechnological aspects of innovations.

The product performance framework could allow small business owners to examine the value created when a business introduces new products or updates on existing products (Leon et al., 2020). Simplification, sustainability, and customization of their products or services reduce operating expenses offering customers a broader range of products (Barrett et al., 2021). Small business owners may experience long-term competitive advantages by satisfying customer demand by effectively implementing this framework (Muharam et al., 2020). Competitors could use this framework to imitate or duplicate other businesses' products or services.

Using the product system framework could assist small business owners to create scalable systems of individual products or services that satisfy customers while defending against competitors (Leon et al., 2020). Product bundling, product and service combinations, and complimentary offerings comprise this framework (Barrett et al., 2021). Distinct offerings are offered by fostering relationships through interoperability, modularity, and integration (Rusu & Frangieh, 2021). Small business owners often utilize this framework because it is the most used to connect businesses to customers.

#### Experience

The primary focus of the experience category is the customer base's perception of the business. The service, channel, brand, and customer engagement subcategories are the primary components of this framework (Orlova, 2020). Small business owners can quickly implement innovations by understanding the demands of their customers (Krstić & Vujatović, 2022). However, unexpected emergencies or uncontrollable circumstances can significantly impact innovation implementation (Bigliardi et al., 2020). The ability to implement innovations quickly could meet the current market demands and achieve a competitive advantage that could potentially lead to long-term economic growth and sustainability.

Using the service framework could assist small business owners to outline strategies that enhance product offerings while finding ways to make products easier to use (Leon et al., 2020). This framework consists of product use enhancements, maintenance plans, customer support, information and education, and warranties (Barrett et al., 2021). Customers often overlook product features and functionality that this framework brings to their attention (Yun et al., 2020). The average product or service feature can be elevated into experience customers repeatedly purchase when small business owners use this framework.

Using the channel framework could assist small business owners in researching how to reach their customer base (Leon et al., 2020). This framework consists of brick-and-mortar stores, direct sales, indirect distribution, and multi-level marketing and is subjective to sudden changes in customer demands (Barrett et al., 2021). E-commerce

and traditional channels create immersive experiences for customers when small businesses incorporate this framework (Barham et al., 2020). Small business owners who are willing to analyze market trends may greatly benefit from using this framework.

Using the brand framework could assist small business owners to develop marketing incentives that ensure their customers and users prefer their products or services over similar ones offered by their competitors (Leon et al., 2020). Small businesses attract and maintain customers by promoting their values and corporate responsibilities (Barrett et al., 2021). Competitive advantages and customer loyalty are vital for long-term sustainability (Orlova, 2020). Small businesses experience success by adhering to a set of standards that should not be implemented by business owners who are not willing to be accountable.

Using the customer engagement framework could assist small business owners in researching customer and user desires (Leon et al., 2020). Local chambers of commerce and other civic organizations are the framework's primary components (Barrett et al., 2021). Small business owners could use this framework to find ways to make customers' lives more memorable, fulfilling, and enjoyable (Orlova, 2020). Social interaction with the customers is the primary reason to utilize this framework, and small business owners who aren't willing to engage with customers will not often experience success.

#### **Ten Types of Innovation Implementation**

Orlova (2020) claimed small business owners must determine the motivating factors for implementing any innovation prior to implementing the ten types of innovation framework. The small business owner who is motivated by enhancing the

business model focuses on the configuration tactics first and followed by experience tactics (Barrett et al., 2021). The small business owner who is motivated by enhancing the customer experience can first focus on the experience tactics and then on the configuration tactics (Leon et al., 2020). Due to the vast array of individual motivating reasons, there is no universal approach to implementing any innovation.

With the motivating factors identified, the small business owner who determines the ambition level to implement the innovation tactic can influence how the innovation tactic will be received by the business's employers and stakeholders (Orlova, 2020). Small business owners enhance the business model by implementing one or two innovation tactics initially (Barrett et al., 2021). Small business owners transform the business model by implementing a minimum of five innovation tactics (Leon et al., 2020). Due to individual ambition levels, there is no universal approach to implementing any innovation tactic.

Small business owners may not possess a formal education or business experience to have the necessary cognitive knowledge to implement innovation successfully. Maitlo et al. (2021) stated small business owners who possess a higher level of cognition may be able to implement flexible innovation strategies that are adaptable to sudden changes in market trends or customer demands. The mental understanding of small business owners is essential in developing strategies, sustainability, growth, and opportunities (Hashim et al., 2018). Small business owners who possess a higher degree of cognitive knowledge could create a culture that embraces innovation implementation.

Small business owners in rural areas often do not possess a higher degree of

cognitive knowledge due to a lack of educational opportunities. Santoro et al. (2020) indicated the absence of a higher degree of mental ability is often a determinant of small business failure. Small business owners who do not possess more cognitive knowledge have trouble creating a culture that openly embraces innovation implementation (Maitlo et al., 2021). Small business owners often depend on innovation implementation to achieve a competitive advantage and sustainability.

Creating a culture of trust that enhances the implementation of open innovation requires small business owners to embrace open innovation as a complementary asset.

Culture is the uniqueness of each business, the top-down shared values, the accepted behavioral norms, and the shared experiences of the employees (Guimaraes et al., 2018; Yun et al., 2020). Bartha and Bereczk (2019) emphasized the development of trust, which is considered the foundation of social support between upper management and employees, especially younger employees. The higher the level of trust a company possesses, the more innovativeness and risk-taking occur.

Employee training is an easily controlled aspect of management and when it occurs at every level there is an increase in employee commitment, which lowers turnover rates and assists in team and trust-building among employees (Sejfijaj et al., 2019). Employee training and attitude regarding the acceptance of open innovation implementation can be significantly affected by the business's culture and philosophy (Ollila & Yström, 2020; Seyhan et al., 2021). Millers and Gaile-Sarkane (2021) stated that the lack of proper training due to limited resources was the primary reason innovation implementation failed. Therefore, employee training could enhance or destroy

a business's success.

#### **Economic Impact on Small Businesses**

Small businesses make a significant contribution to local, state, and national economies. In their systematic review of the national and global impact of small businesses, Rusu and Frangieh (2021) reported that small businesses comprise 90% of the total worldwide and represent 90% in most countries. In the United States, registered small businesses of less than 500 employees reportedly total more than 33 million, equating to 99.9% of businesses nationally (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2023). Small businesses contribute a significant amount to the GDP.

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022), GDP is the most used measurement of consumer products, investments, government purchases, and net exports of goods and services. The U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy (2023) stated small businesses contribute to 43.5% of the GDP of the United States. Thus, small businesses reduce national dependency on importing foreign market goods and services (Rozmi et al., 2021). Small businesses help reduce national dependence on foreign markets and provide independence for individuals seeking employment in local areas.

An improvement in the quality of life and the creation of local employment opportunities occurs because of the impact of small businesses in local economies. Small businesses contribute to 99.9% of the total jobs in the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2023) while creating employment opportunities and improving quality of life (Khan et al., 2021). Mahmud et al. (2021) labeled small businesses as catalysts for economic growth and development. However, with all

examples of success, failure is possible.

Researchers should be aware that most literature on small businesses reflects data that pertains to small businesses located in urban areas. When researching performance and sustainability metrics pertaining to small, businesses located in rural areas, researchers must distinguish what parameters are used to define the geographic area where a business is located and to identify which business activities are perceived as rural (Bosworth & Turner, 2018). The United States Department of Agriculture (2023) defined rural areas as small, dispersed areas that contain populations under 2,500 residents and are not within proximity of larger towns or metro areas. While the parameters of the USDA's definitions are clearly stated, researchers should incorporate a more comprehensive definition of small businesses located in rural areas.

Researchers should develop a comprehensive knowledge of how small, rural businesses differ from their urban counterparts. Within the context of small businesses, Wojan and Parker (2018) defined a small business as rural by examining the level of involvement of how the rural area is served by the business, how the business's products are created, and how local capitals are utilized for the business's daily operations. The authors stated small businesses that locate their operation in a rural area but do not employ local residents or utilize outside financial resources will not fit into the category of small, rural businesses. Researchers could use these parameters to identify small businesses that successfully operate within the scope of rural context.

Small, rural business owners often face unique challenges that distinguish their needs and opportunities from small, urban business owners. Babalola and Agbenyegah

(2019) stated the lack of infrastructure, lack of financial resources, lack of business skills, and no or limited access to training often have negative impacts on minority-owned rural businesses. Salemink et al. (2018) identified limited or no access to broadband technology, external financial resources, lack of available skilled workforce, and insufficient business knowledge and skills as the primary challenges small, rural business owners must face and try to overcome. Small, rural business owners often know these challenges but find little to no solution-focused knowledge that assists small, rural businesses.

Small, rural business owners are often viewed as less knowledgeable than small, urban business owners. Aryal et al. (2018) identified small, rural business owners as innovative and hard-working and stated success can be achieved by leveraging the unique resources that small, rural business owners have available. Phillipson et al. (2019) stated small, rural businesses have higher success rates and employee retention rates.

Researchers should understand that these rates are not uniform and vary depending on the region and location (Yu & Artz, 2019). Agbenyegah (2018) stated small, rural businesses often have positive correlations between innovation, social capital, networks, and business knowledge or skill developmental policies. Small, rural business owners should develop the necessary skills to identify challenges and unique resources that may increase business performance.

#### Failures of Small Businesses

Leading experts in small business entrepreneurship have identified several factors that may contribute to business failures, including the lack of experience or education of

the individual owner, inadequate financial resources, employees, or other internal and external factors. Nel and Abdullah (2019) discussed the impact of standardized protocols and the development of a business continuity plan on business performance. Their research included a quantitative analysis that demonstrated how standardized protocols and a well-developed business continuity plan relate to short and long-term business performance. By acknowledging that business performance is relative to sustainability, their findings indicated that small business owners will likely not achieve sustainability without implementing measures to increase business performance (Nel & Abdullah, 2019). Sarmiento et al. (2020) extended the discussion on how business performance can be impacted by a lack of standardized protocols and a well-developed business continuity plan. Their research supported the idea that business performance can have a positive impact on achieving sustainability (Sarmiento et al., 2020). Jenkins and McKelvie (2016) identified that there are two types of failures, individual and firm but also stated that all business closures are not considered a failure. For example, an individual could close their business because they have reached their financial goals or received an offer to pursue other interests.

Small business owners often do not possess the education, experience, and adequate resources to create and implement successful strategies into their business plans. When this occurs, most small business owners will contribute to the national sustainability failure rate of 48.9% of small businesses beyond 5 years (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2023). Small business owners increase their personal skills, knowledge, and assets in management by investing in their

education and training (Liu & Yong Wang, 2018). Only small business owners who possess the necessary skills to implement realistic and flexible strategies will be successful and achieve long-term sustainability.

The use of innovative leadership strategies may help small business owners achieve long-term sustainability (Dominiece-Diasa et al., 2018). Seijts and Gandz (2018) identified 11 dimensions of leader characters along with 60-character elements that are associated with the 11 dimensions. Findings in their study indicated that a leader's character can impact the organizational change process. Results also showed how absence or presence can impact the outcomes of the organizational change process (Seijts & Gandz, 2018). Successful business owners assist in the development and implementation of the business's vision and mission by creating a leadership team who can identify the financial goals of the business (Wahyono, 2019). Longenecker and Insch (2019) examined the behavior of leaders who have been identified as high performers by their organizations. Their findings suggested a work environment that promotes employee growth and teamwork can improve a business's financial goals by reducing tardiness, absenteeism, and turnover (Longenecker & Insch, 2019). Successful business owners implement strategies that emphasize the business's vision and mission to create organizational awareness and improve employee engagement and performance.

Small business owners may achieve financial success and long-term sustainability by pursuing additional knowledge, skills, and abilities (Johnson et al., 2020). Business owners who effectively engage with their employees can create a reciprocal trust that increases employee satisfaction and commitment (Potdar et al., 2020). In their systematic

review of employee training opportunities, Tafvelin et al. (2019) found the attitudes and behavior of upper management can have an impact on employee views of training opportunities that are designed to increase employee performance. Employee attitude, engagement, commitment, and satisfaction could have a positive or negative effect on leadership performance, customer engagement, and brand value (Picardi, 2019). Owners who engage in identifying and developing knowledge, skills and abilities could create a competitive advantage by exerting pressure on competitors to offer similar training opportunities for their employees or to hire new employees who possess higher levels of skills.

Small business owners may develop insight into customer demands that require immediate changes to the current operational strategies by researching their market segment. Babaee Farsani et al. (2019) stated organizational sustainability could be achieved when a business owner equates changes in market demand to opportunities for growth. Small business owners could capitalize on sudden customer trends by implementing forms of open innovation that improve technological resources (Ilac, 2018). Le (2021) concluded open innovation should be implemented into business strategies that improve products and organizational processes. Small business owners could achieve sustainability through open innovation that has a positive impact on society (Babaee Farsani et al., 2019). Small business owners who implement open innovation could create a competitive advantage through collaborations with consumer groups, partners, and stakeholders.

By closely examining their specific industry and the long-term goals, such as

possible expansion into other industries or geographic locations, small business owners could identify the types of highly educated and trained individuals to engage. Onkelinx et al. (2018) suggested small business owners closely examine the current and future benefits that will be invested in hiring employees that require certain incentives based on their education and or experience. Chowdhury (2019) suggested small business owners could consider incremental salary increases and bonuses and a part proprietorship of the business to attract highly qualified individuals. Onkelinx et al. posited that small business owners who are pursuing an immediate strategy to increase their productivity need employees with higher education and specialized training. Small business owners will then have the frame of reference to identify the type of employee needed to assist in achieving their goals.

Higher-level educated employees often can be an asset by providing additional knowledge to a small business but could potentially have a downside. Chowdhury (2019) examined the impact of hiring higher-level educated employees on small businesses.

Their findings suggested the high cost of employee incentives and higher salaries could have a negative impact on small business performance. Cui et al. (2022) conducted quantitative research on small business performance during the COVID-19 pandemic and concluded small businesses within the financial services market segment would struggle to achieve long-term sustainability due to the high cost of specialized employees that possess higher-level education. Chowdhury also concluded productivity could be positively impacted by employees who possess either a higher education level or a vast amount of job experience working with teams who explored innovative ways to increase

productivity. Zahara et al. (2022) examined the effects of governmental regulations and supply chain disruptions in the manufacturing segment during the COVID-19 pandemic. The authors concluded that small business owners with higher education levels or experienced employees had a higher chance of overcoming these factors which reduced their impact on achieving long-term sustainability. Regardless of the decision of the types of employees to pursue or the incentives to offer, the small business owner is responsible for their business's sustainability.

While the hiring of higher-level education employees can potentially assist a small business, it is not a guarantee that the small business owner will achieve long-term sustainability. Chowdhury (2019) posited that small business owners must develop an understanding of how employing higher-level education employees could potentially influence the business's external stakeholders. To understand the potential influence on external stakeholders, the small business owner may have to adjust and adapt new managerial and leadership styles to accommodate the new employees (Onkelinx et al., 2018). For example, small business owners who implement micromanagement techniques could create distrust among employees, resulting in a high turnover rate and causing negative feedback from external stakeholders (Liu & Yong Wang, 2018). Small business owners may identify obstacles that impede the capability to achieve sustainability by understanding external factors, including a business's external stakeholders.

Small business owners can potentially influence the sustainability of their business by developing strategic plans that identify external factors. Fatoki (2019)

examined the impact of external factors on business performance and sustainability. Their findings identified external stakeholders, ineffective supply chains, distribution costs, and competition as the primary external factors that contribute to poor business performance (Fatoki, 2019). Small business owners often have inadequate financial resources and are more susceptible to external factors than larger businesses (Roig-Tierno et al., 2018). However, Williams (2019) claimed that external factors outside of the small business owner's control are more impactful in achieving sustainability than inadequate financial resources. Williams identified such external factors as geographical location, organization, type of industry, and size of the small business as the most impactful in achieving sustainability. Small business owners may increase their chances of achieving sustainability by capitalizing on opportunities in the external environment.

#### **Sustainability of Small Businesses**

A universal and concise definition of sustainability from a business perspective has not been developed. The term: sustainability first appeared during 1987 in The Bruntland Report that was published by the World Commission on Environmental Development (Lau, 2019). The definition of sustainability has included the concepts of corporate sustainability, environmental sustainability, economic sustainability, and social sustainability (Van-Marrewijk, 2019). Small business owners often struggle to achieve sustainability simply because they do not know how to define the term from a business perspective (Damali et al., 2020).

The SBA reported that 63.6% of small businesses experienced sustainability for two years, while only 41.3% experienced sustainability beyond 5 years (SBA, 2021).

Šimelytė et al. (2021) stated small business owners must work diligently to increase sustainability by implementing strategies that may include various forms of technology and innovation. When small business owners expand their knowledge of the various roles that sustainability has in creating economic stability, they increase their chances of achieving long-term sustainability.

Small business owners could measure their business sustainability by utilizing financial and nonfinancial metrics that included the number of employees, productivity rates, public perception, and current market share (Nel & Abdullah, 2019). In a review of research pertaining to Porter's five forces framework, Melton et al. (2020) found access to capital is the biggest obstacle to achieving sustainability and suggested small business owners could not implement simple designs or general theoretical frameworks. Likewise, in a systematic review, Liu and Yong Wang (2018) suggested small business owners implement flexible strategies that capitalize on sudden changes in market trends or customer demands. Small businesses can potentially achieve long-term sustainability by developing comprehensive strategies that utilize open innovation.

# **Sustainability Strategies of Small Businesses**

The development of comprehensive sustainable strategies can assist small business owners in achieving long-term sustainability by examining internal and external factors within their target market. Back (2019) stated that small business owners could potentially achieve a competitive advantage by observing current target market trends.

Small business owners often lack market share or financial resources to compete effectively on pricing and should develop comprehensive sustainable strategies that focus

on providing overall value for stakeholders (Audretsch et al., 2020). Small business owners who develop comprehensive strategic management plans have a better understanding of how to implement sustainable strategies (Damali et al., 2020). Ammar and Chereau (2018) concluded small business owners have the potential to maximize resources and monitor performance when comprehensive strategic management plans are implemented. Small business owners who collaborate with employees and members of the supply chain may develop effective strategic management plans.

Small business owners often fail because they do not have the knowledge or necessary skills to understand how to develop comprehensive sustainable strategies. Yolles (2018) investigated some of the external factors that pose the biggest challenges to small business owners. Their findings identified the biggest challenges are supply chain shortages, distribution problems, and competition from larger businesses (Yolles, 2018). Likewise in a systematic review, Kubíček et al. (2020) equated the performance of small businesses is dependent on the small business owner's ability to anticipate challenges and implement sustainable strategies to minimize the impact of challenges. Small business owners who work diligently to acquire the knowledge or necessary skills often develop and implement comprehensive sustainable strategies for their businesses (Quansah & Hartz, 2021). Small business owners who develop comprehensive sustainable strategies often correlate their strategies to their managerial and leadership strengths.

### Corporate Sustainability

Small business owners who develop comprehensive sustainable strategies that correlate to their managerial and leadership strengths will often motivate their employees

to embrace these strategies resulting in increased acceptance of changes in the business plan. Caitlin et al. (2018) defined corporate sustainability as the business's ability to maintain its mission statement over an elapsed time period. Hansen and Schaltegger (2020) posited corporate sustainability should encompass the business's economic, social, and environmental goals. Small business owners should develop sustainable strategies that create equilibrium between these goals (Krauss, 2019). Small business owners who utilize innovation and creativity to increase profitability could potentially create a competitive advantage within their market segment.

Small business owners often do not understand how their current sustainable strategies will impact the business's stakeholders. Chakravorty and Hales (2019) defined development sustainability as the business's ability to satisfy the demands of current stakeholders without compromising the demands of future stakeholders. Pantelica et al. (2018) defined corporate sustainability as the business's ability to meet the needs of current stakeholders while simultaneously developing sustainable strategies that ensure the needs of future stakeholders are met. Banker et al. (2019) extended the discussion on how businesses achieve sustainability regardless of internal and external threats. Their research identified increased market and stakeholder benefits and decrease operational costs and employee turnover as factors that can impact achieving sustainability (Banker et al., 2019). Small business owners who broaden their scope of sustainability can develop a broader scope of the impact of their strategies.

Small business owners fail to understand that long-term sustainability does not have any specific formula and is unique to every business. Banker et al. (2019) suggested

small business owners should apply a differentiation strategy and a cost leadership approach to achieve long-term sustainability. Carayannis et al. (2018) posited differentiation strategy uses competitor benchmarks to propose innovative products or services that will increase market share. Hörisch et al. (2020) stated stakeholder satisfaction is not sufficient to achieve long-term sustainability. Ayuso et al. (2019) stated small business owners need to examine the needs of the stakeholders who can be impacted by the business's products or services. Small business owners who examine other aspects of their business gain a better understanding of how to achieve long-term sustainability.

#### Environmental Sustainability

An understanding of the business's internal and external environments and ecosystems may assist small business owners in developing sustainable strategies. Uitto (2018) defined the environment as the surroundings that proved the essential elements and conditions for living organisms to flourish. Buri et al. (2019) stated an ecosystem includes climatic components, such as humidity, wind, soil, and temperature. Aldana-Dominguez et al. (2018) posited that an ecosystem is a primary component for environment equilibrium and stability. Small business owners who understand how their business will impact the environment and the ecosystems will develop sustainability strategies that minimize their impact.

Small business owners work diligently to ensure their strategies are conducive to the preservation of the environment by developing environmentally sustainable strategies. In a systematic review of the impact that methane has on the environment, Abushammala et al. (2018) found methane is 25 times more likely to contribute to global warming than carbon dioxide. The authors suggested business owners develop sustainable strategies that protect the environment since it is essential to every aspect of life on our planet and is the provider of human existence (Abushammala et al., 2018). Likewise in a quantitative study, Bura (2019) examined topo-climatic predictors of 154 plant species to create a more effective distribution model. Their findings indicated civilization's advancement is not possible without the benefits of a healthy environment that can be nurtured through environmentally sustainable strategies. Buell (2019) stated infrastructures, such as power systems, water supply systems, and commerce supply systems are dependent on environmental resources. Small business owners who understand the limitations of environmental resources develop adaptable sustainable strategies to minimize the business's impact on the environment.

Small business owners can develop successful long-term sustainable strategies by understanding their stakeholders' views regarding the environment. Hahn et al. (2019) stated stakeholders have increased pressure on businesses to incorporate changes to their operations that align with environmental sustainability. Van-Rensburg and Head (2019) suggested small business owners should engage with policymakers to develop laws that address environmental issues. Small business owners who develop environmental sustainability strategies may increase their business chance of achieving long-term sustainability by appealing to stakeholders who value acts of environmental concern.

Small business owners broaden their knowledge of their customers' concerns about the environment by developing environmental sustainability strategies. Dyllick and

Muff (2018) stated environmental sustainability strategies are expensive to implement but create several opportunities to increase stakeholder engagement with the business.

Susskind (2018) stated environmental sustainability engagement could potentially decrease the probability of legal issues, such as lawsuits. Small business owners who examine the added costs of implementing environmental sustainability strategies may have a deeper understanding of determining the feasibility of such expenses.

### Economic Sustainability

Small business owners are better equipped to develop effective sustainability strategies by understanding profit does not equate to economic sustainability. Oberoi (2018) defined economic sustainability as the creation of profitability and growth by efficiently using the business's assets and fulfilling the business' social and financial obligations. Gupta (2019) stated the most challenging part of being a small business owner is making a profit and achieving long-term sustainability. Hoffer and Pincin (2019) stated the business' income is dependent on its sales while the business's savings is dependent on its spending and consumption. Without understanding the role of revenue and operating expenses, small business owners cannot effectively develop long-term sustainable strategies.

When small business owners create innovative products or services, they may be about to achieve economic sustainability. Sharma and Agrawal (2019) stated small businesses that create innovative products or services could expand their business into new markets. Schaltegger et al. (2018) state small business owners should create their own innovative products or services to create profit and achieve long-term sustainability.

Small business owners who understand that developing their own innovative products or services could result in a competitive advantage often create successful sustainability strategies.

When a small business owner creates innovative products or services, the stakeholders often become confused and need reassurance their investment will provide an acceptable return. Sharma (2019) stated small business owners must develop the ability to build emotional connections with stakeholders through brand equity and value. Schreck and Raithel (2018) stated small business owners should implement the highest code of ethics to maintain stakeholder trust. Kang and Choi (2018) analyzed that small businesses' long-term sustainability is dependent on relationships with various stakeholders. Small business owners who understand the delicate balance between long-term sustainability and stakeholder relationships have a better chance to ease the concerns of their stakeholders.

## Social Sustainability

Small business owners may achieve social sustainability by developing comprehensive sustainable strategies that promote positive community development.

Long (2018) defines social sustainability as the creation of competitive advantage by implementing strategies that address social equity, social justice, and social responsibility. Sabella and Eid (2018) stated social sustainability is the practice to implement strategies that nurture social capital, human capital, and human well-being. Schaefer et al. (2019) stated small business owners should develop social sustainability strategies that align with current and future stakeholders. Smith (2019) defined a socially

sustainable business as a business that appeals to potential employees in the present and in the future. Small business owners begin to comprehend their business's role in society by developing a broader scope of social sustainability.

Small business owners may increase their knowledge on becoming more effective leaders by developing and implementing social sustainability strategies. Sabella and Eid (2018) stated effective leaders develop strategic plans to incorporate social sustainability into every aspect of the business. Siltaoja et al. (2019) posited effective leaders develop sustainable strategies that exceed regulatory requirements to minimize environmental damage. King and Gish (2019) stated effective leaders develop sustainable strategies that improve the lives of their stakeholders. Small business owners who are genuine and sincere about maintaining stakeholder engagement increase the chances of implementing successful social sustainability strategies.

#### **Innovation in Small Businesses Sustainability**

Small business owners may experience difficulties implementing innovation into sustainability strategies due to the complex interplay of many dynamics, opportunities, and expectations. Friedman and Carmeli (2018) identified a lack of rural context in research involving innovation implementation in small businesses. Mohamad and Chin (2019) stated most research focused on small businesses without any context to small businesses located in rural areas. Small business owners who are in rural areas may struggle to develop effective sustainability strategies that implement innovation due to the lack of resources that examine the role of innovation in small, rural businesses' success and performance.

Despite the scarcity of research on innovation in the rural context, researchers will discover strong evidence amongst available studies to link innovation implementation with small, rural business performance. In a 10-year longitudinal study in the UK, Blanchard (2019) concluded small, rural businesses that implemented innovation had higher sustainability rates than small, urban businesses. In a report conducted for the United States Department of Agriculture, Gamito and Madureira (2018) established strong evidence that non-agricultural, small, rural businesses had higher sustainability rates in which innovation was implemented into sustainability strategies than non-agricultural, small, urban businesses in which innovation was not implemented into sustainability strategies. Small business owners should develop sustainability strategies to increase overall performance by supporting and fostering innovation implementation.

Since innovation implementation does not guarantee sustainability, small business owners often need to gather knowledge, information, and support to develop sustainability strategies that include innovation implementation. After researching the availability of broadband internet access in rural areas, Phillip and Williams (2019) concluded many small business owners often believe technological innovations will ensure business success, performance, and sustainability. Meili and Shearmur (2019) stated small, urban businesses can quickly implement innovations into their sustainability strategies due to the availability of technological innovations. Small business owners who wish to develop sustainability strategies by implementing innovation can achieve success regardless of the business's location.

Small business owners must develop an understanding of their roles and how their

own skills, education, knowledge, and experiences can disproportionately impact their businesses' sustainability and performance. After conducting a correlational study of sustainability in rural areas, Kmecova and Vokoun (2020) identified personal characteristics, business attributes, and external environment as contributors in achieving sustainability. Dotzel and Faggian (2019) stated small businesses could increase their sustainability by establishing a successful external network of resources and small, rural businesses are more dependent on these resources than small, urban businesses. Small business owners who wish to implement successful sustainability strategies should engage with members in their respective industries to gain market knowledge.

When analyzing small business sustainability strategies, economic experts often view small, rural businesses more negatively than small, urban businesses. Phillipson et al. (2019) concluded in their extensive quantitative analysis of small, rural business sustainability rates that small, rural business owners often do not possess the skills to overcome challenges and limitations of being in rural areas. Greenberg et al. (2018) stated small, rural businesses can quickly implement changes in their sustainability strategies to meet new market demands. Cowie et al. (2019) stated small, rural businesses often show better profits than small, urban businesses by converting challenges into opportunities. Small business owners who are in rural areas could develop sustainable strategies by researching the challenges that small, rural business owners encounter and what strategies were used to face them.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, I provided the foundation of my study as well as the background on

sustainability with small businesses in the United States. I introduced the elements of my study that included the problem statement, the nature of the study, the conceptual framework, and an overview of the literature on innovation implementation in small businesses.

In Section 2 I included an overview of the research study process that includes the role of the researcher, participants, methods, and design. I outlined the processes of collecting, organizing, analyzing, and storing data from the participants. I reviewed the steps taken to maintain ethical standards, and the researcher's biases, and maintain the validity and reliability of the study.

In Section 3 I presented the findings of my study as related to the conceptual framework and the literature review in Section 1. I discussed the implications for social change and offer recommendations for future research. I shared my reflections on the research and my conclusion in the final part of the study.

#### Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes specific information on the rationale for the multiple case study process and specific techniques on how I conducted the research. Section 2 includes information about the purpose of the qualitative multiple case study, the role of the researcher, a description of the research participants, population, sampling, and justification of the method and design. Section 2 concludes with a discussion of how I addressed the data collection process, technique, reliability, and validity of the study.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners use to successfully implement open innovation. The target population consisted of owners of small businesses with fewer than 20 employees in rural Tennessee. The implication for positive social change include the potential for increased sustainability of small businesses by potentially increasing revenue, which may create employment opportunities and economic development in the surrounding community.

#### Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher is a key component for the continuation of the research topic by examining current data and providing insight into future research (Widner et al., 2022). The researcher plays an important part in qualitative studies because the scholar serves as the primary data collection instrument (Saldaña, 2018), collecting primary data from the participants using interviews, observations, and artifacts (Chauvette et al., 2019). The researcher accepts responsibility during the qualitative data collection process to observe the selected phenomenon with ethics and remove unbiased personal values

from the research study (Lai, 2019). I was the primary data collection instrument and used ethical principles to conduct the research and secure the qualitative data in this study.

In a qualitative study, the researcher must explain their relationship to the topic, participants, and research area to the intended target audience (Mirhosseini, 2020). I explored innovative strategies that small business owners use for long-term sustainability. My professional experience includes over 30 years in engineering and design, 20 years as a master instructor in the computer-aided design technology program at our local technical college, and 5 plus years as an ergonomic consultant for manufacturing facilities. My position requires me to build and foster relationships for the continued support of our local technical college. My position bound me to comply with the ethical expectations that are defined in the *Belmont Report*.

The researcher must accept the responsibility to conduct ethical research based on the *Belmont Report* (Anabo et al., 2018). The *Belmont Report* was first published in 1979 and outlines the three principles that include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice for the researcher to follow (Tajir, 2018). The researcher must also obtain ethics approval from a research ethics committee to ensure protection for the participants, and the quality of the collected data, monitor the researcher's qualifications and mitigate liability risks (Mallia, 2018). I communicated with each participant that their participation will be voluntary and provide them with adequate information outlined in the consent letter. The participants were given plenty of time to review the document and consent to participation via a typed email response of "I consent to participation," To ensure that the

principle of beneficence principle was adhered to, I minimized the risks to the participants by not putting them in a position of discomfort, not affecting their financial status, and maintaining their confidentiality. To ensure that the principle of justice was adhered to, I remained fair and consistent in my data collection by ensuring all potential participants were treated the same in communication during interviews and post-research. I used the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines that ensured my research process was ethical and transparent. All Walden University students must obtain approval from the IRB before conducting a study.

The researcher of qualitative studies must also mitigate biases (Mirhosseini, 2020). Researchers can reduce bias by recruiting participants with whom the researcher has not had any past or existing business relationships (Epp & Otnes, 2020). I only selected participants with whom I have never had any personal or working relationships. The researcher must also alleviate any individual interpretations by analyzing the data (Schneider et al., 2019). The researcher must collect and analyze the data in an objective manner to reach an unbiased conclusion (Jemielniak & Ciesielska, 2018). During the interview process, I worked diligently to be an active listener, maintain self-awareness, and avoid leading questions. I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix A) that reduced my personal bias that may have affected the participants or influenced the conclusions. The researcher should use interview protocols to establish consistency and mitigate bias (Zairul, 2021). In qualitative research, the researcher should address validity, reliability, and ethics by establishing strict protocols to follow during the data collection process (Fendler, 2018). To establish and define the protocols, the researcher

could conduct semistructured interviews that create consistency by aligning interview questions with research questions, creating conversations that are inquiry-based, and receiving appropriate feedback in a prompt manner (Veronesi, 2019). I audio recorded each interview at a place of convenience for each participant. I used Microsoft Word Online to create transcripts of the audio. I used Microsoft Excel to categorize the interview responses in a manner to evaluate the data, remove bias, and develop conclusions.

#### **Participants**

The researcher should select participants who will add value to the research by having the knowledge, experience, and ability to answer the main research questions (Verma & Verma, 2020; Widner et al., 2022). I chose rural, small business owners who use innovation strategies to achieve long-term sustainability. Participants of this study were over 30 years old and own a rural small business located in northwest Tennessee that have been established for a minimum of 5 years.

I selected three to five small business owners as participants in the study by contacting my local chamber of commerce to acquire a list of small business owners in the specified geographical area. I used small business owners who are members of the Chamber of Commerce, which promotes economic and community growth. The researcher can develop rapport with the participants by demonstrating excellent listening skills, authenticity, and respect (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). I sent an initial email to the participants to ask them if participation in the study would interest them.

# **Research Method and Design**

#### Research Method

The research method selected for this study was qualitative, which enabled me to explore the strategies that rural small business owners use to successfully implement open innovation. Researchers use the qualitative method to gather information from participants who have experienced the phenomenon studied (Widner et al., 2022). With a qualitative research method, I explored my participants' experiences with open innovation implementation. The qualitative research method is the preferred method to analyze a phenomenon that cannot be quantified with statistical measures (O'Leary, 2018). The qualitative method was appropriate for this research because I did not require statistical analyses to reach conclusions. Using qualitative methodology, researchers collect data by conducting open-ended interviews and analyzing the content and quality of literature that pertains to the research question (Blaikie, 2018). I conducted semistructured, informal interviews with seven open-ended questions for each of the participants to obtain in-depth insights into their strategies and experiences.

Researchers use the quantitative method to develop a hypothesis, which is used to explore the relationship between research variables by testing the statistical significance of the relationship (Gunasekara & Zheng, 2019). The quantitative method is used when researchers are interested in understanding how much and how often a phenomenon occurs (Aspers & Corte, 2019). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because I wanted to understand what, why, and how rural, small business owners develop and implement open innovation.

Researchers use a mixed method which includes both qualitative and quantitative techniques to develop a broader and more comprehensive understanding of the research problem (Hlady-Rispal et al., 2021). This method requires researchers to be experts in both techniques, but methodological scholars argue that research should be either qualitative or quantitative but not both (Timans et al., 2019). This method can be time-consuming, and the qualitative data can limit the data's flexibility (Halcomb, 2018). The mixed method was not appropriate for this study because time limitations and quantitative analysis were not applicable.

# **Research Design**

The researcher should select a research design prior to starting the data collection process (Epler, 2019). The researcher will use a research design that yields consistent data collection throughout the research process. When conducting qualitative research, the researcher investigates phenomena through case studies, phenomenological, ethnography, or narrative designs (Durdella, 2019). The case study is the most common research design and is used to investigate multiple data sources and offers flexibility that other research designs do not offer (Widner et al., 2022). The researcher could use company documents as data by using a case study design (Hancock et al., 2021). The researcher could use multiple case studies to increase the strength, validity, and reliability of the research because the data comes directly from the participants who have experienced the phenomenon (Fazli et al., 2018). After reviewing the different research designs, I selected the multiple case study design for this research study because it allowed me to gather information about small business open innovation implementation.

Researchers use phenomenological design to investigate a phenomenon through lived experiences of the participants (Ilac, 2018). Phenomenological research identifies historical events to discover common themes related to world views (Townsend et al., 2019). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for the study because small business open innovation implementation did not require investigating world views. Researchers use ethnographic design to investigate a phenomenon related to specific cultures or communities (Harris, 2019). Ethnographic research requires researchers to spend a significant amount of time collecting data (O'Leary, 2018). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for the study because I did not investigate phenomena related to specific cultures or communities.

Data saturation is a vital component of the quality of the research that sets the standard for discontinuing data collection and analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2019).

Researchers reach data saturation in qualitative research when the data collected addresses the research question (Lowe et al., 2018). In multiple case study research designs, researchers collect data using semistructured interviews (Widner et al., 2022).

Researchers can achieve data saturation with semistructured interviews because multiple participants can answer the same questions (Guest et al., 2020). In this study, I collected and analyzed data through semistructured interviews with qualified participants. Data saturation was reached when my participants' information became repetitive and additional information no longer emerged.

### **Population and Sampling**

The population for this research consists of a purposeful sample of small rural

business owners in northwest Tennessee. Researchers use purposeful sampling to ensure that experienced and knowledgeable participants are available to provide significant and comprehensive data pertaining to the phenomenon (Elfenbein & Schwarze, 2020). A purposeful sampling technique was appropriate for the study because I was able to search for qualified participants who added value to the research. Researchers should determine an appropriate sample size to accomplish data saturation (Lahman, 2021). Qualitative researchers use smaller sample sizes that range between three and 500 participants (Assarroudi et al., 2018). The sample size for this qualitative study was adequate to reach data saturation through consistent repetition of semistructured interview questions.

I sent an email invitation to the participants once I had my initial research sample. Researchers should conduct interviews in a location where the participants' privacy can be respected (Hlady-Rispal et al., 2021). I encouraged the participants to select a suitable place that was convenient and allowed the interviews to be recorded. I preferred the interviews to be conducted face-to-face but respected the wishes of the participants if they wanted virtual interviews due to COVID-19 safety protocols. The virtual interviews were conducted using Zoom or Teams meetings. The interview questions are provided in Appendix B.

Researchers should continue interviewing participants until no new analytical information is yielded (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I used participants who had direct experience in open innovation implementation. I continued to interview participants until no new information or themes emerged, resulting in data repeating themselves.

Researchers should be able to develop meticulous plans to obtain data, arrange collected

data effectively for analysis, and possess the listening skills necessary to fully understand the participants' responses (Gudkova, 2018). Qualitative researchers can reach data saturation, which is the point of diminishing returns through using semistructured interviews (Zyphur & Pierides, 2019). Data saturation occurs through methodological data triangulation techniques, including semistructured interviews, audible recordings, document analysis, and participant selection (Widner et al., 2022).

#### **Ethical Research**

I conducted research according to the ethical standards of the Walden University IRB, that included the informed consent process. Anabo et al. (2018) stated IRBs establish the guidelines for the informed consent letter requirements when research has human participants. The informed consent letter is a legal and ethical requirement in research that ensures confidentiality while protecting the rights of research participants (Guloy, 2018). King et al. (2018) stated the informed consent letter should provide participants with full awareness of their rights. Manti and Licari (2018) suggested the informed consent letter should include the researcher's contact information, the research's purpose, and general expectations of participants during and after the research, benefits of participation, risks associated with participation, participant criteria, participant confidentiality information, withdrawal procedures from the research, IRB information, and the statement of consent. I emailed the informed consent letter to every participant and requested their typed consent via email prior to conducting interviews (Appendix D). Othman and Abdul Hamid (2018) suggested researchers should align the research process with The Belmont Report's ethical standards and guidelines that include

treating the participants with respect, beneficence, and fairness. I treated the participants with respect and fairness while ensuring they understood the beneficence of the research.

The participants were informed that participation was voluntary, and they could withdraw from the research without penalty at any time by contacting me by phone or email. I did not provide the participants with any gifts or forms of financial compensation. Manti and Licari (2018) recommended researchers should encourage the participants to ask questions about the research prior to signing the informed consent letter. At the conclusion of the research, I sent thank you cards to the participants as a token of appreciation. Researchers should implement measures to protect the participant's identities and privacy rights while sharing the findings of the research (Turcotte-Tremblay & McSween-Cadieux, 2018). I protected the identities and privacy of the participants by using coding and pseudonyms: rural small business owners (RSBO) and participant one was coded RSBO1. I repeated the coding for each participant and did not list company names or published documents. I will store the data collected on a USB drive and a password-protected external hard drive in a safety deposit box for a period of 5 years. After the 5-year period, I will destroy all collected data through a certified disposal company. Walden University's IRB approval number will be provided upon my IRB approval.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument for this qualitative study. In qualitative multiple-case study research, a researcher is the principal instrument in the data collection and may employ several data collection techniques (Denny &

Weckesser, 2019). DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) stated semistructured interviews are the most popular data collection techniques used in qualitative research. Researchers use semistructured interviews to gain the participants' experiential data about the research topic while observing the participants' behaviors during the interview process (Creswell & Báez, 2020). I conducted semistructured interviews to explore successful strategies used by rural and small business owners to implement innovation.

Bearman (2019) suggested using an interview protocol to ensure uniformity and consistency when conducting semistructured interviews. In a qualitative study, the researcher uses semistructured interviews to elicit more information about the research phenomenon from the participants (Yeong et al., 2018). In many cases, researchers may have to schedule follow-up questions to add clarity to the initial responses (Mirhosseini, 2020). Researchers conducting semistructured interviews that follow an interview protocol increase the reliability and validity of their research (Potts, 2018). I followed the interview protocol to schedule and conduct semistructured, face-to-face interviews. I developed open-ended questions that are relevant to the study. I provided the participants with the informed consent form (see Appendix D) prior to the interviews. After receiving written informed consent via email from the participant, I scheduled interviews. I audio recorded the interviews in a comfortable setting that ensured maximum privacy for the participants. I used NVivo software to transcribe the interviews and organize, analyze, and code the data. Using keywords, I identified themes collected from the interviews that required member checking to ensure the reliability, validity, and transferability of the research.

Qualitative researchers enhance the study's reliability, validity, and transferability by incorporating member checking into their research (Dennis, 2018). Prior (2020) defined member checking as a research technique that requires the researcher to share their interpretations of the interview responses with the participants for accuracy. Researchers should be active listeners during semistructured interviews and ask follow-up questions for interpretation inaccuracies (Iivari, 2018). To improve the reliability, validity, and transferability of the study, I conducted member checking with each participant that ensured my interview summaries are accurate. I corrected any mistakes and sent the updated interview summaries to the participants. I performed subsequent follow-ups until final interview summaries of the interpretations were delivered.

# **Data Collection Technique**

In qualitative research, the researcher collects information relevant to the research from expert participants during the data collection process (Alam, 2021). Archibald et al. (2019) claimed semistructured interviews are the most used method to collect data in qualitative research. Neubauer et al. (2019) concluded additional questions can be generated when researchers start questions with the word, what. Researchers also collect data in qualitative research through observations, documents, archival data, and artifacts (Popoola et al., 2018). I collected data relevant to the study by conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews with participants who had experience and expertise with the phenomenon. Prior to the interview, I ensured the privacy and confidentiality of each participant by removing their names and company name from my research. I identified participant number one as "RSB01" and labeled each participant sequentially.

Bearman (2019) stated researchers can establish reliability and validity by implementing interview protocols. Aguinis and Solarino (2019) suggested an interview protocol is a key component used by qualitative researchers to reach data saturation by ensuring consistency in the interview process. Researchers may reduce the number of field observations by effectively using an interview protocol (Lukyanenko, 2021). I will follow an interview protocol to create guidelines to ensure the interview process will be consistent with each participant. I asked each participant the same questions to fully encapsulate their level of expertise about the phenomenon. During the interviews, I was an active listener and took detailed notes that lead to additional research questions.

Veronesi (2019) stated member checking should be used by researchers to validate the accuracy of the interview interpretations from the participants' perspectives. Haenssgen (2019) suggested member checking often leads to additional questions that allow the researcher to gain a deeper understanding of the phenomenon. Researchers could mitigate bias and improve data triangulation by engaging in multiple interview sessions with the participants (Weller et al., 2018). I used various forms of media to record the interviews, transcribe the interview responses, and code any thematic patterns in the responses. To confirm my interpretations of the responses, I implemented member checking and conducted a second interview as needed to gain additional clarity and insight.

#### **Data Organization Technique**

Qualitative researchers should develop a data management plan that provides information on the collection, organization, management, storage, and backup of the data

(Saunders et al., 2019). Widner et al. (2022) suggested a sound data management plan can reduce researcher bias and increase the research's validity. I collected the data using audio recordings of the semistructured interview questions. During the organization stage, I created labels for each participant that included the time, date, informed consent, and interview transcription. Researchers can identify patterns by organizing, coding, and evaluating the data (Bergeron & Gaboury, 2020). Using NVivo software, I organized and cataloged the data for analysis. Adu (2019) suggested researchers securely protect recorded information collected from the participants. I will store the data collected on a USB drive and a password-protected external hard drive in a safety deposit box for at least 5 years. After the 5-year period, I will destroy all collected data through a certified disposal company.

# **Data Analysis**

Researchers analyze the data after it has been collected in the field and transcribed (Azungah, 2018). Haenssgen (2019) defined data analysis as the interpretation of processed data that has been collected through semistructured interviews, observations, and written and visual document reviews. Widner et al. (2022) stated researchers must (a) compile the data, (b) disassemble the data, (c) reassemble the data, (d) interpret the data, and (e) report the findings of the research. Qualitative researchers should collect data from multiple resources to accurately understand and interpret the data (Creswell & Poth, 2019). I analyzed the data about successful strategies to implement open innovation that I collected from semistructured interviews and organizational documentation that included business plans, financial statements, and employee training opportunities.

The data analysis process for this multiple case study included methodological triangulation from two data collection methods: semistructured interviews and organizational documentation that included business plans, financial statements, and employee training opportunities. Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation from multiple data sources including semistructured interviews, observations, and organizational documentation (Abdalla et al., 2018). Ashour (2018) defined triangulation as a process used to enhance the reliability and validity of the collected data and research findings through the development of a comprehensive understanding of phenomena. Researchers could ensure objectivity and mitigate bias through triangulation (Saks, 2018). I used methodological triangulation to validate the findings and mitigate bias to ensure objectivity.

Before conducting data analysis, researchers should organize, classify, code, and interpret the data prior to presenting the findings (Maxwell, 2021). I conducted data analysis by organizing and classifying the collected data in a Microsoft Excel workbook. D'Amato (2019) recommended researchers use qualitative data analysis software like NVivo to code the data from semistructured interview transcripts for data management and retrieval. Microsoft Word enabled me to import the audio files and export transcript files. After reviewing the transcripts, I corrected any mistakes within the context. Researchers should use member checking, a process where additional interviews are conducted to determine if the researcher's interpretation of the interview data reflects the interviewee's intentions (Roberts et al., 2019).

Bergeron and Gaboury (2020) suggested NVivo, and a codebook can assist with

data saturation by grouping the data into categories and concepts that start with common words or phrases. Clark and Veale (2018) suggested emergent themes can be identified because of data saturation through coding and sorting data. I combined my research into a single document and uploaded it into latest the version of NVivo to code. After the coding process, I used common words and phrases to identify emergent themes that correlated to recent studies and the conceptual framework. I compiled the theoretical findings for presentation after using semistructured interviews and organizational documentation that included business plans, financial statements, and employee training opportunities to achieve data saturation.

# Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers could implement several data collection techniques to ensure the reliability and validity of the research (Kyngäs et al., 2020). Bogna et al. (2020) stated the study's consistency will determine the study's degree of reliability while the study's accuracy will determine the study's degree of validity. To establish reliability and validity in the research, qualitative researchers use credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Hulme et al., 2021). As the primary data collection instrument, I implemented research data collection methods that met those criteria and established reliability and validity in the findings.

### Reliability

Qualitative researchers ensure their research's reliability by implementing consistent data collection methods that are appropriate, transparent, and replicable. Saunders et al. (2019) defined reliability as the degree of consistency discovered

throughout the data collection and analysis processes. Starcher et al. (2018) stated dependability is achieved when relevant research demonstrates consistency and reliability. Researchers demonstrate reliability and dependability when the findings of the study can be analyzed by other researchers and similar findings are yielded (Forero et al., 2018). To achieve dependability, I used consistent data collection methods that enhanced the study's reliability by minimizing errors while implementing research guidelines that can be replicated by future researchers.

I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix A), member checking, and data saturation to achieve reliability and validity in the study. López-Zerón et al. (2021) stated that reliability could be when researchers implement data collection methods that are transparent and consistent. Qualitative researchers use interview protocols to better understand the participant's perspectives on the phenomenon by improving the interview process (Yeong et al., 2018). Participants review the interview transcripts to ensure the accuracy of the researcher's interpretations and to add insights missed during the initial interview (Candela, 2019). Naidu and Neil (2018) suggested that qualitative researchers use member checking to validate the researcher's interpretations of the interview questions by sharing the transcripts with the participants and correcting applicable misinterpretations.

To further enhance the reliability and validity of the research, researchers could reach data saturation by implementing consistent data collection methods and data analysis (Hair et al., 2019). I followed the interview protocol to schedule and conduct semistructured, face-to-face interviews using open-ended questions relevant to the study.

I provided the participants with the informed consent letter before the interviews. After receiving the written informed consent via email "I consent to participation" from the participant, I scheduled the initial interview. I recorded the interviews and created transcripts to be used with the NVivo software to achieve data saturation by identifying emergent themes that correlated to recent studies and the conceptual framework. After using multiple data methods to achieve data saturation, I compiled the findings for presentation.

### Validity

Qualitative researchers establish research validity by implementing comprehensive data collection methods and data analysis that ensure trustworthy and meaningful findings. Saunders et al. (2019) defined validity as the degree of accuracy between the researcher's conclusions and the actual data collected. Leung (2018) stated validity has two subcategories; internal which is the extent to which the research establishes cause-and-effect relationships and external which is the extent to which the outcome of the research can be generalized to similar research. Daniel (2019) stated the criteria for evaluating validity in qualitative research include credibility, transferability, and confirmability. I established validity by applying member checking, triangulation, and data saturation to ascertain trustworthy and meaningful findings.

Dawson (2019) stated credibility in qualitative research can be achieved by establishing credible and believable findings obtained from the participant's perspective. Researchers should develop strategies such as prolonged engagement and member checking to fully understand the phenomenon from the participants' experiences (Madill

& Sullivan, 2018). Researchers who triangulate data from multiple sources and reach data saturation have a higher chance of establishing credibility (Braun & Clarke, 2019). I used semistructured interviews, member checking, and triangulation for data saturation to ensure the credibility of the study.

Mandal (2018) defined transferability as the ability to transfer research findings or methods from one scholar to another. Researchers who implement high levels of prolonged engagement and member checking increase the chance of enhancing transferability (Johnson et al., 2020). Ames et al. (2019) suggested researchers implement sample selection strategies that identify participants who have expert knowledge about the research topic. I enhanced transferability by providing a detailed explanation of the data collection and data analysis methods used to generate the findings.

Qualitative researchers add value to the existing phenomenon by conducting reliable and valid research that can be used for future research (Maher et al., 2018). Forero et al. (2018) defined confirmability as the confidence level researchers have in previous research that pertains to a particular phenomenon. Dennis (2018) suggested researchers use detailed methodological descriptions, accurate audit trails, and triangulation to ensure confirmability. Nascimento and Steinbruch (2019) stated confirmability can only be achieved once credibility, transferability, and dependability have been established. I ensured confirmability by providing detailed research method descriptions, audit trails, triangulation, and analysis.

Widner et al. (2022) stated data saturation in qualitative research is present when the data becomes redundant. Aldiabat and Le Navenec (2018) suggested data saturation is

an accepted methodological standard in research to establish reliability and validity. Fusch et al. (2018) indicated data saturation can be achieved by triangulating data from multiple sources. To achieve data saturation, I used semistructured interviews, member checking and triangulation, and detailed NVivo software analysis.

# **Transition and Summary**

Section 2 included the role of the researcher, research method and design, participant population and purposeful sampling, ethical research considerations, data collection, organization, and analysis methods, reliability, and validity of the study. In Section 3, I presented the research findings collected from the study and themes that may emerge from my analysis. I recommend applications for professional practice and the implications of social change. Section 3 concluded with recommendations for future research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners use to successfully implement open innovation. The sample of this study included owners of small businesses with fewer than 20 employees in rural, western Tennessee. The data were collected by conducting semistructured, face-to-face interviews and asking seven open-ended questions to these participants. In the following sections, I present the findings, the professional practice applications, social change implications and future research recommendations. I conclude this section with my reflections and a conclusion to my study.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching question for this study was "What strategies do small business owners use to implement open innovation?" Innovation strategies were revealed during participant interviews, which were analyzed using NVivo 12 software. I discovered three main themes: strategic and continuous development, risk management, and sustaining a culture of innovation. In the following sections, I provide thematic analyzes and discuss the findings pertaining to these themes.

# Theme 1: Strategic and Continuous Development

The first theme that emerged from the data analysis process was the importance of developing strategic and continuous plans for innovation implementation. All four participants agreed that efficient strategic and continuous plans are vital to achieve sustainability in rural areas. Table 1 reflects Theme 1 that emerged from participants' responses.

 Table 1

 Participants' Responses Related to Strategic and Continuous Development

Participants	Responses	
RSBO1	15	
RSBO2	8	
RSBO3	11	
RSBO4	16	

All four participants discussed the importance of a strategic and continuous planning process where leaders create clear, quantifiable goals that can be changed to achieve those objectives. Small business owners should develop an understanding that strategic and continuous planning cannot be effective in a short-term time frame (Dhanda & Shrotryia, 2020). Strategic and continuous planning is comprised of the business's mission, values, goals, policies, and protocols to achieve sustainability. A written business plan is an instrument outlining the strategic and continuous plans, including expected growth and expansion (Chao, 2018). Small business owners who write a detailed business plan could obtain business loans, attract new partners, and skilled employees (Lee et al., 2019), and they often experience an increase in stakeholder advocacy and financial backing (Quansah & Hartz, 2021). The participants agreed that the development of a strategic and continuous plan was vital to the implementation of innovation and achieving sustainability, as it helps them become consistent in decision making regarding innovation implementation.

The participants shared organizational documents comprising strategic and

continuous plans, methods to evaluate goals, and schedules of deadlines to achieve the goals. By reviewing the participants' organizational documents, I discovered additional evidence supporting the strategic and continuous business plan as an important theme. Small business owners should review strategic business plans on a regular basis to identify any possible changes in the business's direction or in the market segment that the business operates (Kimuli et al., 2020). Small business owners should utilize operating procedures to assist in achieving their goals over a 12-month period. Operating procedures are planning documents that provide more detail about the implementation procedures of specific business operations and about what implementation is needed to achieve the business goals (Untaru & Han, 2021). SBO1 stated, "A plan is an important tool to help me stay the course by identifying where I am and where I want to be. To achieve my goals, I must remain vigilant and dedicated to my plan." SBO2 explained, "An effective strategic business plan is necessary to help me grow my entrepreneurial skills and be a better leader for my employees." SBO3 said, "My business is an extension of who I am and obtaining long-term sustainability isn't an option, it's a necessity. A solid and effective strategic plan will help me achieve all my goals." SBO4 stated,

I have seen too many small businesses around me close their doors. I often wonder what happened to cause them to go out of business. I have tried to mentor many younger business owners and teach them how important developing an effective strategic plan is to achieve their goals. I would be among them if I didn't just have a solid strategic plan.

Small business owners cannot achieve their goals or long-term sustainability

without developing a clear and precise business plan. By performing a detailed SWOT analysis (Vlados, 2019), small business owners can develop such a plan by examining the micro and macro environments of their business (Ratten, 2020). The participants agreed developing an effective SWOT analysis is a primary step in developing a well-written strategic plan. SBO1 stated, "The SWOT is the spokes of a wheel with the goals as the hub. Without the spokes, the wheel falls apart." SBO2 said, "Creating a SWOT has been instrumental in developing strategies to address their weaknesses and threats." SBO3 stated, "Without a SWOT, the company simply wouldn't be able to compete in the market." SBO4 added, "The best advice I can give any new small business owner is to learn how to develop a SWOT."

Small business owners could benefit during the strategic planning phase by performing a customer analysis that would identify who is likely their intended audience (Turkmen, 2020). Small business owners can design their strategic plan implement innovation to address the needs of their customers. Customers are the primary driver for a small business to exist and without them, there would be no need for the business. SBO1 stated, "Without their customers, none of us would be able to pursue a life as a business owner." Small businesses often fail due to the owner's inability to develop strategic plans, obtain leadership skills, and provide adequate resources to successfully implement strategic plans (Chao, 2018). RSBO2 stated, "The business plan serves as a foundation for the business to be built and must possess a solid understanding of their customers' needs." SBO3 stated, "Small business owners are often the drivers for economic development on a local level. We owe it to our communities to be successful." SBO4

said, "Strategic planning without customer analysis is likely to result in business failure.

Every business owner must understand the symbiotic relationship between customers and sustainability."

# **Theme 2: Risk Management**

The second theme that emerged from the data analysis process was the importance of developing effective risk management protocols. All four participants agreed that effective risk management is often difficult to develop due to its unpredictable nature. Table 2 reflects Theme 2, which emerged from an analysis of the data collected from participants.

 Table 2

 Participants' Responses Related to Risk Management

Participant	Responses
RSBO1	19
RSBO2	13
RSBO3	15
RSBO4	12

Sadgrove (2020) stated risk management is the process where investment decisions are identified, analyzed, accepted, or mitigated. Small business owners should understand and implement effective risk mitigation strategies to protect the business. Polinkevych, Khovrak, Trynchuk, Klapkiv, and Volynets (2021) stated small business owners could avoid unnecessary risk by developing a well-written strategic plan that outlines the steps to reduce the negative impact of unforeseen events. All four

participants have created a written strategic plan. SBO1 stated, "Planning for an unforeseen event is a difficult task even the most experienced business owner."

Many small businesses failed during the Covid pandemic due to the lack of developing an effective strategic plan. The four participants agreed the pandemic had a negative impact on their businesses but were able to maintain their sustainability by quickly mitigating the restrictions placed by governmental agencies. Untaru and Han (2021) stated the pandemic was the most significant risk that many businesses had ever experienced, and many did not recover from its impact. Many businesses mitigated the pandemic's negative impact by quickly integrating various innovations into their business model (Quansah & Hartz, 2021). Baldegger, Wild, and Schueffel (2021) stated many small businesses had to use various forms of digital innovation to mitigate risk to their supply chain. Manjula Bai (2020) stated many small businesses had to implement digital innovations to meet their customer demands. The pandemic has changed consumer trends and small businesses without a strategic plan will find it difficult to achieve sustainability. The four participants agreed their businesses would have suffered had they not developed a strategic plan that included resources for risk mitigation. SBO1 stated, "The pandemic forced us to make drastic changes in our daily operations. Our hours had to change to accommodate the social distancing guidelines which resulted in longer workdays. Our customers felt a more personal connection to us, and our business increased."

Crovini (2019) stated small business owners could identify risk as an opportunity or a threat when performing a SWOT analysis. The four participants agreed risk is an

opportunity and should be viewed in a constructive manner. SB03 said, "Owners should view risk as an opportunity to develop stronger leadership skills. Taking a positive attitude will contribute to a healthier workplace."

Glowka, Kallmünzer, and Zehrer (2020) identified internal risks as weaknesses and external risks as threats. Small business owners can control internal risks once they have been identified while external risks are out of their control. Small business owners who have developed effective strategic plans could minimize the negative impact of risks. Chakabva, Tengeh, and Dubihlela (2021) stated human risk is an internal risk that small businesses cannot manage effectively. Human risk includes illness, death, theft, turnover, and low morale. Quansah and Hartz (2021) stated supply chain disruptions are an external risk that small business owners cannot control. Wallis and Frese (2020) stated small business owners could minimize the negative impact of risks by developing strong lines of communication, setting realistic expectations, developing support systems, training staff, assessing risks, and developing contingency plans. The four participants agreed mitigating human risk during the pandemic was challenging and required high degrees of empathy. The four participants also agreed supply chain disruptions resulted in loss of business and customer loyalty. SBO4 stated, "Our supply chain consisted of several small businesses which closed during the pandemic. We will never recover from the loss of those relationships."

# Theme 3: Culture of Innovation Sustainability

The third theme that emerged from the data analysis process was sustaining a culture with a focus on innovation. All four participants indicated a sustainable culture

cannot be achieved if upper management fails to encourage their employees to challenge traditional approaches to the day-to-day operations. All four participants agreed upper management could create high employee morale by willing to implement changes suggested by employees. Table 3 reflects Theme 3, which emerged from an analysis of the data collected from participants.

Table 3

Participants' Responses Related to Innovation Culture

Participant	Responses
RSBO1	9
RSBO2	11
RSBO3	12
RSBO4	9

Matheus (2020) stated a positive work culture often leads to the implementation of innovation. Some small business owners often overlook how education and experience contribute to building a positive work culture. Panggabean and Jermias (2020) stated successful businesses create positive work culture by recruiting individuals who have the knowledge and commitment to innovation for maintaining customer satisfaction, developing effective operational strategies, and continuous organizational growth. The four participants agreed a positive work culture is vital when overcoming unexpected obstacles. SB02 stated, "Without a work culture that's capable of overcoming challenges, the impact of COVID would have been detrimental to the sustainability of the business."

Linneman and Stanton (2020) identified work culture as a key ingredient needed

for development of successive strategic marketing plans. Chuang (2020) stated small businesses often have limited resources including a positive work culture that makes it difficult to implement strategic marketing plans. Strategic marketing plans must include social media to increase a business's visibility and sustainability (Thomas, 2020). Le (2021) stated small businesses can compete with larger businesses using social media by giving them an equal opportunity to promote their products or services. The four participants agreed an increased social media presence was a vital component in sustainability during the global pandemic. SB03 stated, "I relied heavily on my employees to help expand our use of social media. Without them, it would be hard to predict what would have happened during Covid."

Inoue and Todo (2020) identified work culture as a key component in building partnerships with the local community. Chuang (2020) stated strategic marketing plans should include the development of partnerships with the local community to expand the shareholders of a business. The increase of shareholders often leads to expanded market share, competitive advantage, and sustainability (Vu & Nwachukwu, 2020). Customer loyalty can be increased with increased social media by creating a sense of ownership with businesses who engage their customers (Krüger & Meyer, 2021). The four participants agreed the reason they started their respected businesses was to contribute to their local communities. SB01 stated "Without community ties, it would be impossible to keep the doors open." SB02 added "Our primary goal is providing services to our community that otherwise would not be available. Without our community, this is no us."

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings from this study may assist small, rural business owners develop successful innovation strategies for increased sustainability. Specifically, small, rural business owners may benefit from the strategies discovered during the study by applying them to their own strategic plan development and innovation implementation. Findings from the study provide successful strategies small, rural business owners use to effectively implement innovations into their daily operations while satisfying customer needs and building community partnerships. As the literature shows, small, rural business owners must find creative ways to innovate to achieve sustainability over the long-term. Historically, small, rural business owners receive less financial support than their urban counterparts due to the lack of infrastructure, workforce, and supply chain disruptions. Therefore, small, rural business owners must utilize any resource to implement innovation and achieve sustainability.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The challenges small, rural businesses must overcome are well known, but there is a lack of understanding of how small, rural businesses can successfully overcome them. This study's findings may assist small, rural business owners to develop successful innovation strategies for increased sustainability. Small, rural businesses are pillars of the community and assist in generating tax revenues needed for many community outreach programs. Additionally, small, rural businesses help communities to keep monies within the boundaries of the community. Without small, rural businesses, customers would have to spend their monies in other communities.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

This study and its findings resulted in three main themes: strategic and continuous development, risk management, and sustaining a culture of innovation used by the study participants. The findings from this research can be beneficial to small, rural business owners and their stakeholders. Small, rural business owners can achieve sustainability by finding creative ways to implement innovation into their business strategies. A key recommendation is that small, rural business owners should implement innovation in their organization to create and maintain a competitive advantage in the marketplace which may lead to sustainability. I plan to share the findings of this qualitative multiple case study with the participants, including a final publication if requested. I also plan to publish this study in a dissertation database, making it available to academic and professional communities. I would also welcome the opportunity to present the findings of this research at small business conferences and seminars.

### **Recommendations for Further Research**

A limitation of this study is that the findings cannot be relative to small urban businesses, medium businesses, and large businesses. The limitations of this study included the education level of the participants due to the lack of understanding of strategic development, availability of the participants, and the sample size and location of the participants. There is a need to further research the relationship between innovation implementation and sustainability. I recommend that future researchers expand the scope of similar research to include small business owners in urban areas. To address the limitations of this study, I recommend future researchers select small business owners

with higher education levels, increase the sample size, and select different geographic locations. Future researchers could conduct a quantitative study on the correlation between innovation and sustainability.

#### Reflections

The Doctor of Business Administration academic process has been the most daunting and challenging of my academic journey. Life obstacles have prolonged this aspect of my journey and have diminished my enthusiasm periodically. I truly value the support I have received from my chairs and classmates throughout each milestone. I chose this study to broaden the understanding of innovation implementation in small, rural businesses. During this journey, I have gained a deeper understanding of local small businesses and the obstacles they must overcome to achieve sustainability. I have acquired many new research skills and have developed skills in academic writing. I have also enhanced my critical thinking skills which will assist in my future journeys.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies small business owners in rural Tennessee used to implement open innovation. The ten types of innovation theory were the conceptual framework for this study. Four volunteer participants who met the established participant criteria were selected to articulate their strategies for implementing open innovation into their business strategies. The three main themes that emerged from this study include: (a) strategic and continuous development, (b) risk management, and (c) sustaining a culture of innovation. I correlated the results of this student to the current literature related to strategies for small business open

innovation implementation and conceptual framework, ten types of innovation theory, developed by Keeley, Walters, Pikkel, and Quinn (2013). To increase the probability that small business owners implement open innovation, I encourage current and potential small business owners to utilize these strategies to implement open innovation to achieve sustainability.

### References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G., Azevedo, C. E., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulations as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98. https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abushammala, M. F., Qazi, W. A., Azam, M.-H., Mehmood, A. U., Mufragi, G., A., & Alrawahi, N. A. (2018). Economic and environmental benefits of landfill gas utilization in Oman. *Waste Management & Research*, *34*(8), 717–723. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X16628983
- Adu, P. (2019). *A step-by-step guide to qualitative data coding* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351044516
- Agbenyegah, A. T. (2018). Effect of constraints on perceived business success of rural entrepreneurial activities: A case of two rural municipalities. *The Journal of Applied Business Research*, 34(1), 117–130. https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v34i1.10098
- Aguinis, H., & Solarino, M. (2019). Transparency and replicability in qualitative research: The case of interviews with elite informants. *Strategic Management Journal*, 40(8), 1291–1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3015
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 16(1), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Aldana-Dominguez, J., Montes, C., Martinez, M., Medina, N., Hahn, J., & Duque, M.

- (2018). Biodiversity and ecosystem services knowledge in the Colombian Caribbean: Progress and challenges. *Tropical Conservation Science*, 10(2), 1–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940082917714229
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Le Navenec, C. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory method. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(1), 245–261. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss1/18
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BioMed Central Medical Research Methodology*, 19(26), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874–019–0665–4
- Ammar, O., & Chereau, P. (2018). Business model innovation from the strategic posture perspective. *European Business Review*, *30*(1), 38–65. https://doi.org/10.1108/ebr-09-2016-0119
- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru–Albizuri, I., & Villardón–Gallego, L. (2018). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet–mediated research: Perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(2), 137–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676–018–9495–z
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Areiza-Padilla, J. A., Moise, M. S., & Manzi Puertas, M. A. (2021). Breaking the barriers

- of animosity: Innovation in business models as a positioning strategy. *Heliyon*, 7(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021e075545
- Aryal, G., Mann, J., Loveridge, S., & Joshi, S. (2018). Exploring innovation creation across rural and urban firms: Analysis of the national survey of business competitiveness. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, 7(4), 357–376. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEPP-D-18-00026
- Ashour, M. L. (2018). Triangulation as a powerful methodological research technique in technology-based services. *Business & Management Studies: An International Journal*, 6(1), 193–208. https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v6i1.209
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research? *Qualitative Sociology*, 42, 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133–019–9413–7
- Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018).

  Directed qualitative content analysis: The description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117741667
- Audretsch, D. B., Belitski, M., Caiazza, R., & Lehmann, E. (2020). Knowledge management and entrepreneurship. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 16(2), 373–385. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365–020–00648
- Avle, S., Hui, J., Lindtner, S., & Dillahunt T. (2019). Additional Labors of the entrepreneurial self. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*,

  Article 218. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359320

- Ayaya, Onesimus & Pretorius, Marius. (2021). Methodological considerations in the professional accreditation research. *SAGE Open, 11*(4), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211052557
- Ayuso, S., Rodriguez, M. A., Garcia–Castro, R., & Arino, M. A. (2019). Maximizing stakeholders' interests: An empirical analysis of the stakeholder approach to corporate governance. *Business and Society*, *53*(3), 414–439. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650311433122
- Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *18*(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-d-18-00035
- Babaee Farsani, M., Amindust, A., & Shekarchizadeh, A. (2019). Designing open innovation model in active small and medium sized enterprises by mix method. *Public Management Research*, 12(44), 209–235.

  https://doi:10.22111/jmr.2019.24228.3848
- Babalola, S. S., & Agbenyegah, A. T. (2019). Rural entrepreneurship: An insight into impeding factors influencing micro–entrepreneurial growth. *The Journal of Applied Business Research*, 32(6), 1751–1759. https://doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v32i6.9821
- Back, P. R. (2019). On the relationship between corporate social responsibility and competitive performance in Brazilian small and medium enterprises: Empirical evidence from a stakeholders' perspective [Master's thesis, Maastricht School of Management]. Thesis Commons. https://doi.org/10.31237/osf.io/bdumw

- Baldegger, R., Wild, P., & Schueffel, P. (2021). The effects of entrepreneurial orientation in a digital and international setting. In A. C. Corbett, P. M. Kreiser, L. D. Marino & W. J. Wales (Eds.) *Entrepreneurial orientation: Epistemological, theoretical, and empirical perspectives* (Vol. 22, pp. 145–174), Emerald Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1074-754020210000022006
- Banker, D. R., Mashruwala, R., & Tripathy, A. (2019). Does a differentiation strategy lead to more sustainable financial performance than a cost leadership strategy?

  Management Decision, 52, 872–896. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2013-0282
- Barham, H., Dabic, M., Daim, T., & Shifrer, D. (2020). The role of management support for the implementation of open innovation practices in firms. *Technology in Society*, 63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101282
- Bartha, Z., & Bereczk, A. (2019). Perceived opportunities by social enterprises and their effects on innovation. Theory. *Methodology, Practice*, *15*, 3–10. https://doi.org/10.18096/TMP.2019.02.01
- Bearman, M. (2019). Focus on methodology: Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semi–structured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Education*, 20(3), 1–11. http://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v20i3.387
- Bergeron, D. A., & Gaboury, I. (2020). Challenges related to the analytical process in realist evaluation and latest developments on the use of NVivo from a realist perspective. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 23, 355–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1697167
- Barrett, G., Dooley, L., & Bogue, J. (2021). Open innovation within high-tech SMEs: A

- study of the entrepreneurial founder's influence on open innovation practices. *Technovation*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102232
- Bigliardi, B., Ferraro, G., Filippelli, S., & Galati, F. (2021) The past, present and future of open innovation. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, *24*, 1130–1161. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejim-10-2019-0296
- Blaikie, N. (2018). Confounding issues related to determining sample size in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21, 635–641. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454644
- Blanchard, K. (2019). Rural and remote SMEs' innovative behavior: Is it in the genes or location? An examination of entrepreneurial traits and characteristics. *Strategic Change*, 26(4), 301–309. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jsc.2132
- Bogna, F., Raineri, A., & Dell, G. (2020). Critical realism and constructivism: Merging research paradigms for a deeper qualitative study. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 15(4), 461–484. https://doi.org/10.1108/qrom-06-2019-1778
- Bosworth, G., & Turner, R. (2018). Interrogating the meaning of a rural business through a rural capitals framework. *The Journal of Rural Studies*, 60(5), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.02.002
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample–size rationales.

  \*Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13(2), 201–216.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846

- Buell, P. D. (2019). Reviews of Lincoln Paine, the sea and civilization: A maritime history of the world, with a response by Lincoln Paine. *The International Journal of Maritime History*, 28(3), 576–600. https://doi.org/10.1177/0843871416648830
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2022). Occupational employment and wages summary.

  Retrieved from https://www.bls.gov/.htm.
- Bundtzen, H., & Hinrichs, G. (2021). Innovation capability of the company: The role of leadership and error management. *Marketing and Management of Innovations*, *1*(3), 112–123. http://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2021.1–09
- Bura, M. (2019). India's environmental strategy in the global climate negotiations.

  \*International Studies, 51(1), 195–211.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0020881717719352
- Buri, A., Cianfrani, C., Pinto-Figueroa, E., Spangenberg, J. E., Adatt, T., Verrecchia, E., Guisan, A., & Pradervand, J. N. (2019). Soil factors improve predictions of plant species distribution in a mountain environment. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 41(6), 703–722. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133317738162
- Caitlin, J.R., Luchs, C.M., & Phipps, M. (2018). Consumer perceptions of the social vs. environmental dimensions of sustainability. *Journal of Consumer Policy*, 40(1), 245–277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10603–017–9356–xx
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160–3715/2019.3726
- Carayannis, E., Sindakis, S., & Walter, C. (2018). Business model innovation as lever of organizational sustainability. *The Journal of Technology*, 40(3), 85–104.

- https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-013-9330-y
- Castro–Arce, K. & Vanclay, F. (2020). Transformative social innovation for sustainable rural development: an analytical framework to assist community–based initiatives. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 70(2), 45–54.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.11.010
- Cepec, J. & Grajzl, P. (2020). Management turnover, ownership change, and post-bankruptcy failure of small businesses. *Small Business Economics*, *57(1)*, 555-581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-020-00325-z
- Chakabva, O., Tengeh, R., & Dubihlela, J. (2021). Factors inhibiting effective risk management in emerging market SMEs. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, *14*(6), 231. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14060231
- Chakravorty, S. S., & Hales, D. N. (2019). Sustainability of process improvements: an application of the experiential learning model (ELM). *International Journal of Production Research*, *55*(17), 4931–4947.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1277278
- Chao, E. (2018). Marketing Platform Strategy. In (Ed.), Marketing. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.77947
- Chauvette, A., Schick–Makaroff, K., & Molzahn, A. E. (2019). Open data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Method*, 18, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918823863
- Chowdhury, I. A. (2019). Issue of quality in qualitative research: An overview.

  Innovative Issues and Approaches in Social Sciences, 8(1), 142–162.

- https://doi.org/10.12959/issn.1855-0541.IIASS-2015-no1-art09
- Chuang, S. (2020). Co-creating social media agility to build strong customer–firm relationships. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 84(1), 202–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.06.012
- Clark, K., & Veale, B. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology* 89(5), 482CT–485CT. http://www.radiologictechnology.org
- Clausen, L., Nielsen, M., Oturai, N., Syberg, K., & Hansen, S. (2022). How environmental regulation can drive innovation: Lessons learned from a systematic review. *Environmental Policy and Governance* 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.2035
- Cowie, P., Tiwasang, P., Phillipson, J., & Gorton, M. (2019). Rural innovation and small business development. In Scott, M., Gallent, N., & Gkartzios, M. (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Rural Planning* (pp. 192–199). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315102375
- Creswell, J. W., & Báez, J. C. (2020). 30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher. (2nd ed). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2019). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Crovini, C. (2019). *Risk management in small and medium enterprises* (1st ed.). Routledge-Giappichelli Studies.
- Cui, Y., Firdousi, S., Afzal, A., Awais, M. & Akram, Z. (2022). The influence of big data

- analytic capabilities building and education on business model innovation.

  Frontiers in Psychology. 13(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.999944
- Damali, U., Secchi, E., Tax, S. S., & McCutcheon, D. (2020). Customer participation risk management: conceptual model and managerial assessment tool. *Journal of Service Management*, 32(1), 27–51. https://doi.org/10.1108/josm-05-2018-0147
- D'Amato, S. (2019). *Cultures of counterterrorism*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429465369
- Daniel, B. K. (2019, June 20–21). What constitutes a good qualitative research study?

  Fundamental dimensions and indicators of rigour in qualitative research: The

  TACT framework [Conference presentation abstract]. 18th European Conference
  on Research Methodology for Business and Management Studies, Johannesburg,
  South Africa. https://doi.org/10.34190/rm.19.113
- Dawson, C. (2019). Introduction: A–Z of digital research methods, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351044677–1
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semi structured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch–2018–000057
- Dennis, B. (2018). Validity as research praxis: A study of self–reflection and engagement in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 24(2), 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800416686371
- Denny, E., & Weckesser, A. (2019). Qualitative research: What it is and what it is not. BJOG: International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 126(3), 369–369.

- https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15198
- Dhanda, U., & Shrotryia, V. K. (2020). Corporate sustainability: The new organizational reality. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/qrom-01-2020-1886
- Dominiece–Diasa, B., Portnova, I., & Volkova, T. (2018, May 3–4). Strategic foresight:

  Towards enhancing leadership capabilities and business sustainability

  [Conference presentation]. 10th International Scientific Conference, "Business and Management 2018," Vilnius, Lithuania. https://doi.org/10.3846/bm.2018.05
- Dotzel, K. R., & Faggian, A. (2019). The impact of external knowledge sourcing on innovation outcomes in rural and urban businesses in the U.S. *Growth and Change*, 50(2), 515–547. https://doi.org/10.1111/grow.12289
- Durdella, N. (2019). *Qualitative dissertation methodology*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781506345147
- Dyllick, T., & Muff, K. (2018). Clarifying the meaning of sustainable business:

  Introducing a typology from business—as—usual to true business sustainability.

  Organization & Environment, 29(2), 156–174.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615575176
- Elfenbein, D. M., & Schwarze, M. L. (2020). Qualitative research methods. *Success in Academic Surgery*, 249–260. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–3–030–28357–5\_21
- Epler, P. (2019). Types of case studies. *Advances in Higher Education and Professional Development*, 20–46. https://doi.org/10.4018/978–1–5225–9429–1.ch002
- Epp, A. M., & Otnes, C. C. (2020). High-quality qualitative research: Getting into gear.

- Journal of Service Research, 24(2), 163–167. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670520961445
- Ertel, S. (2019). Growing small business: Mitigating the wage and wealth gap.

  \*Compensation & Benefits Review, 51(2), 48–51.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368719864481
- Fatoki, O. (2019). The causes of the failure of new small and medium enterprises in South Africa. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 20. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n20p922
- Fazli, A., Imani, E., & Abedini, S. (2018). Faculty members' experience of student ethical problems: A qualitative research with a phenomenological approach. *Electronic Journal of General Medicine*, *15*(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejgm/84952
- Fendler, L. (2018). Validity-versus-reliability tradeoffs and the ethics of educational research. In P. Smeyers & M. Depaepe (Eds.), *Educational research: Ethics*, social justice, and funding dynamics (Vol. 10, pp. 143–161). Springer.
- Ferreira, J. J. M., Fernandes, C. I., & Ferreira, F. A. F. (2020). Wearing failure as a path to innovation. Journal of Business Research, 120(11), 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.08.006
- Ferreras–Méndez, J. L., Olmos–Peñuela, J., Salas–Vallina, A., & Alegre, J. (2021).

  Entrepreneurial orientation and new product development performance in SMEs:

  The mediating role of business model innovation. *Technovation*, *108*.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102325
- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., De Costa, J., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., McCarthy,

- S., & Aboagye–Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four–dimension criteria to assess rigour of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BMC Health Services*\*Research, 18(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913–018–2915–2
- Friedman, Y., & Carmeli, A. (2018). The influence of decision comprehensiveness on innovative behaviors in small entrepreneurial firms: the power of connectivity. 

  \*Innovation: Organization & Management, 20(1), 61–83.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2017.1369141
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, *10*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Gamito, T. M., & Madureira, L. (2018). Shedding light on rural innovation: Introducing and applying a comprehensive indicator system. *Regional Science Policy and Practice*, 11(2), 251–277. https://doi.org/10.1111/rsp3.12167
- Glowka, G., Kallmünzer, A., & Zehrer, A. (2020). Enterprise risk management in small and medium family enterprises: The role of family involvement and CEO tenure.

  \*International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal, 17(3), 1213-1231.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-020-00682-x
- Greenberg, Z., Farja, Y., & Gimmon, E. (2018). Embeddedness and growth of small businesses in rural regions. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *62*(8), 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.07.016
- Greener, S. (2018). Research limitations: The need for honesty and common sense.

  \*Interactive Learning Environments, 26(5), 567–568.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1486785
- Gudkova, S. (2018). Interviewing in qualitative research. In M. Ciesielska & D.

  Jemielniak (Eds.), *Qualitative methodologies in organization studies* (pp. 75–96).

  Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–3–319–65442–3\_4
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15(5)*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guimaraes, Tor & Paranjape, Ketan & Cornick, Mike & Armstrong, Curtis. (2018).

  Empirically Testing Factors Increasing Manufacturing Product Innovation

  Success. International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management. 15.

  1850019. https:///doi.org/10.1142/S0219877018500190
- Guloy, M. (2018). Revisiting ethics and human subject safety in clinical research.

  \*Clinical Researcher, 32(10). https://acrpnet.org/2018/12/06/revisiting-ethicsand-human-subject-safety-in-clinical-research/
- Gunasekara, A., & Zheng, C. S. (2019). Examining the effect of different facets of mindfulness on work engagement. *Employee Relations*, 41(1), 193–208. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-09-2017-0220
- Gupta, R. (2019). Entrepreneurship and firm growth: Review of literature on firm-level entrepreneurship and small-firm growth. South Asian Survey, 22(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0971523117708956
- Haenssgen, M. J. (2019). *Interdisciplinary qualitative research in global development: A concise guide*. Emerald Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1108/9781839092299

- Hahn, T., Figge, F., Aragón–Correa, A., & Sharma, S. (2019). Advancing research on corporate sustainability: Off to pastures new or back to the roots? *Business & Society*, *56*(2), 155–185. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650315576152
- Hair, J. F., Risher, J. J., Sarstedt, M., & Ringle, C. M. (2019). "When to use and how to report the results of PLS–SEM, *European Business Review*, *31*(1), 2–24. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR–11–2018–0203
- Halcomb, E. J. (2018). Mixed methods research: The issues beyond combining methods.

  \*\*Journal of Advanced Nursing, Leading Global Nursing Research, 75(3), 499–501.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13877
- Hancock, D. R., Algozzine, B., & Lim, J. H. (2021). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. (4th ed.). Teachers College Press.
- Hansen, E. G., & Schaltegger, S. (2020). The sustainability balanced scorecard: A systematic review of architectures. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *133*(1), 193–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s/10551–014–2340–3
- Harris, D. (2019). Literature review and research design: A guide to effective research practice (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429285660
- Hashim, N., Raza, S., & Minai, M. (2018). Relationship between entrepreneurial competencies and small firm performance: are dynamic capabilities the missing link?. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 17(2).
- Hlady–Rispal, M., Fayolle, A., & Gartner, W. B. (2021). In search of creative qualitative methods to capture current entrepreneurship research challenges. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *59*(5), 887–912.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2020.1865541
- Hoffer, A., & Pincin, J. A. (2019). Quantifying NFL players' value with the help of Vegas point spreads values. *Journal of Sports Economics*, 20(7), 959–974. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527002519832060
- Hörisch, J., Freedman, E. R., & Schaltegger, S. (2020). Applying stakeholder theory in sustainability management: Links, similarities, dissimilarities, and a conceptual framework. *Organization & Environment*, *27*(4), 328–346. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026614535786
- Hulme, A., Stanton, N. A., Walker, G. H., Waterson, P., & Salmon, P. M. (2021). Testing the reliability and validity of risk assessment methods in human factors and ergonomics. *Ergonomics*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2021.1962969
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, 31(1), 111–133. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168
- Ilac, E. J. (2018). Exploring social enterprise leadership development through phenomenological analysis. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 14(3), 268–288. https://doi.org/10.1108/sej-12-2017-0065
- Inoue, H., & Todo, Y. (2020). The propagation of the economic impact through supply chains: The case of a mega-city lockdown against the spread of COVID-19. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(9), Article e0239251. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239251
- Jemielniak, D., & Ciesielska, M. (2018). Qualitative research in organization studies. In M. Ciesielska & D. Jemielniak (Eds.), *Qualitative methodologies in organization studies* (pp. 1–5). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–3–319–

- Jenkins, A., & McKelvie, A. (2016). What is entrepreneurial failure? Implications for future research. *International Small Business Journal: Researching*Entrepreneurship, 34(2), 176–188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615574011
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Kang, J., & Choi, W. J. (2018). Endorsed sustainable products: The role of celebrity ethicality and brand ethicality. *Clothing and Textiles Research Journal*, *34*(4), 303–319. https://doi.org/10.1177/0887302X16658345
- Keeley, L., Walters, H., Pikkel, R., & Quinn, B. (2013). *Ten types of innovation: The discipline of building breakthroughs*. Wiley.
- Khan, Mukaram & Zubair, Syed Sohaib & Rathore, Kashif & Ijaz, Maryam & Khalil,
  Sumreen & Khalil, Muhammad. (2021). Impact of Entrepreneurial Orientation
  Dimensions on Performance of Small Enterprises: Do Entrepreneurial
  Competencies Matter?. Cogent Business & Management. 8. 1943241.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2021.1943241
- Kimuli, S. N., Orobia, L., Sabi, H. M., & Tsuma, C. K. (2020). Sustainability intention:
   Mediator of sustainability behavioral control and sustainable entrepreneurship.
   World Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development,
   16(2), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1108/wjemsd-12-2019-0096
- King, L., & Gish, E. (2019). Marketizing social change: Social shareholder activism and

- responsible investing. Sociological Perspectives, 58(4), 711–730. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121415576799
- King, N., Horrocks, C., & Brooks, J. (2018). *Interviews in qualitative research*, SAGE Publications Limited.
- Kivimaa, Paula & Laakso, Senja & Lonkila, Annika & Kaljonen, Minna. (2021). Moving beyond disruptive innovation: A review of disruption in sustainability transitions.

  Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. 38. https://doi.org/110–126.

  10.1016/j.eist.2020.12.001
- Kmecova, I., & Vokoun, M. (2020). Innovation activities of Czech businesses:

  Differences between rural and urban businesses. SHS Web of Conferences,

  73(02002). https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20207302002
- Krauss, J. (2019). What is cocoa sustainability? Mapping stakeholders' socio–economic, environmental, and commercial constellations of priorities. *Enterprise*Development and Microfinance, 28(3), 220–249. https://doi.org/10.3362/1755–1986.17–000JK
- Królak, M., Górska–Warsewicz, H., Mądra–Sawicka, M., Rejman, K., Żakowska–Biemans, S., Szlachciuk, J., Czeczotko, M., Kwiatkowski, B., Zaremba, R., & Wojtaszek, M. (2022). Towards sustainable innovation in the bakery sector—An example of fibre–enriched bread. *Sustainability*, *14*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/su14052743
- Krstić, Bojan & Jovanović Vujatović, Milica. (2022). Open innovation strategy as a determinant of sustainable enterprise competitiveness. *Economics of Sustainable*

- Development, 6. 25–34. https://doi.org/10.5937/ESD2201025K.
- Krüger, N. A., & Meyer, N. (2021). The development of a small and medium-sized business risk management intervention tool. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, *14*(7), 310-. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14070310
- Kubíček, A., Dofkova, L., & Machek, O. (2020). Advice–seeking process in family businesses: A qualitative study. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/jfbm-07-2019-0048
- Kyngäs, H., Kääriäinen, M., & Elo, S. (2020). The trustworthiness of content analysis. In H. Kyngäs, K. Mikkonen, & M. Kääriäinen (Eds.), *The application of content analysis in nursing science research* (pp. 23–30). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–3–030–30199–6\_5
- Lahman, M. K. (2021). Writing and representing qualitative research. (1st ed.) SAGE Publications.
- Lai, V. T. (2019). A researcher, a container, or both? A stance of a researcher in qualitative research with bereaved children. In K. Tsang, D. Liu, & Y. Hong (Eds.), *Challenges and opportunities in qualitative research* (pp. 139–152). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–981–13–5811–1\_11
- Latifi, M.–A., Nikou, S., & Bouwman, H. (2021). Business model innovation and firm performance: Exploring causal mechanisms in SMEs. *Technovation*, *107*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2021.102274
- Lau, C. K. (2019). The economic consequences of business sustainability initiatives. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *36*(4), 937–970. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490–

- Le, S. T. (2021). Small business Small business and innovation: Specificities and institutional context. *Innovation Economics, Engineering, and Management Handbook 2(3)*, 247–254. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119832522.ch30
- Lee, S., Pollitt, H., & Fujikawa, K. (2019). Concluding remarks and future challenges.

  \*Energy, environmental and economic sustainability in East Asia (pp. 278–282).

  \*Routledge.https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351013475-15
- Leon, G., Tejero, A., & Franco–Riquelme, J. N. (2020). New methodology for profiling and comparison of open innovation models to conduct R&D activities. *IEEE Access, Access, IEEE*, 8, 48491–48502. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2978933
- Leung, L. (2018). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

  \*\*Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324–327.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.4103/2249–4863.161306
- Liedtka, J. (2018). Innovation, strategy, and design: Design thinking as a dynamic capability. *Academy of Management Proceedings* (Vol. 2018, No. 1, p. 13004). Academy of Management. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2018.13004abstract
- Linneman, R. E., & Stanton, J. L. (2020). *Marketing planning in a total quality*environment (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315859224
- Liu, H., & Wang, Y. (2018). The value of crowdfunding: An explanation based on demand uncertainty and comparison with venture capital. *Emerging Markets Finance & Trade*, *54*(4), 783–791.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496X.2018.1434619
- Long, J. (2018). Constructing the narrative of the sustainability fix: Sustainability, social justice and representation in Austin, TX. *Urban Studies*, *53*(1), 149–172. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098014560501
- Longenecker, C. O., & Insch, G. S. (2019). Leadership development learning accelerators: Voices from the trenches. *Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal*, 33(2), 12–15. https://doi.org/10.1108/dlo-07-2018-0084
- López–Zerón, G., Bilbao–Nieva, M. I., & Clements, K. A. (2021). Conducting member checks with multilingual research participants from diverse backgrounds. *Journal of Participatory Research Methods*, 2(2), Article 24412. https://doi.org/10.35844/001c.24412
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Sage Journal*, *30*(3), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17749386
- Luamba, D., Blye, M., Williams, I., Chagadama, J. & Mwema, E. (2021). The benefit of innovation of small businesses. *The International Journal of Business and Management Research*, 9, 425–432. https://doi.org/10.37391/IJBMR.090405
- Lukyanenko, R. (2021). Expecting the unexpected: Effects of data collection design choices on the quality of crowdsourced user–generated content. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3948656
- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing

- difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(3), 321–339. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089
- Madureira, L., & Torre, A. (2022). Innovation process in rural areas. *Regional Science Policy and Practice*, 11(2019), 213–218. https://doi.org/10/1111/rsp3.122515
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Mahmud, P., Paul, S.K., Azeem, A., & Chowdhury, P.(2021) Evaluating supply chain collaboration barriers in small– and medium–sized enterprises. *Sustainability*, *13*, 7449. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13137449
- Maitlo, A., Mirani, I., Mahar, S., & Memon, S., (2021) The Role of Social Environment in the Development of Entrepreneurial Idea Generation, Entrepreneurial Business
   Creation and Entrepreneurial Financing Decisions, *International Journal of Advanced Research in Engineering and Technology*, 12(1), 46–65.
   https://doi.org/10.34218/ijaret.12.1.2021.006
- Makri, C. & Neely, A. (2021) Grounded theory: a guide for exploratory studies in management research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 20,* 1–14 https:///doi.org/10.1177/16094069211013654
- Mallia, P. (2018). WASP (write a scientific paper): Ethics approval for a research study *Early Human Development*, 124, 46–48.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2018.04.022

- Mandal, P. C. (2018). Qualitative research: Criteria of evaluation. *International Journal of Academic Research and Development*, *3*(2), 591–596. https://www.academicjournal.in/download/1664/3-2-106-837.pdf
- Manjula Bai, H. (2020). The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): A review. *ComFin Research*, 8(4), 8–17. https://doi.org/10.34293/commerce.v8i4.3293
- Manti, S., & Licari, A. (2018). How to obtain informed consent for research. *Breathe, 14*. 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.001918
- Matheus, A. Z. (2020). On the challenges of making a sustainable kitchen: Experimenting with sustainable food principles for restaurants. *Research in Hospitality*Management 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/22243534.2020.179020
- Maxwell, J. A. (2021). Why qualitative methods are necessary for generalization.

  \*Qualitative Psychology\*, 8(1), 111–118. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000173
- McCausland, T. (2020). Innovating with the Crowd. *Research Technology Management*, 63(3), 59–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2020.1733899
- Meili, R. & Shearmur, R. (2019). Diverse diversities—Open innovation in small towns and rural areas. *Growth & Change*, 50(2), 492–514. https://doi.org/10.1111/grow.12291
- Melton, A., Damron, T., Mccarthy, V., & Rupp, W. (2020). Leveraging technology through crowdfunding to ease barriers of entry into the marketplace. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*. 19, 77–86. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2020.19.1.06

- Millers, Maris & Gaile–Sarkane, Elina. (2021). Management Practice in Small and Medium–Sized Enterprises: Problems and Solutions from the Perspective of Open Innovation. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*. 7. 214. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7040214
- Mirhosseini, S. (2020). *Doing qualitative research in language education*. Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-56492-6
- Mohamad, M. A., & Chin, O. (2019). Business networking and sustainability of small rural business: Mediating effects of entrepreneurial orientation. *Management Science Letters*, 9(4), 595–606. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.1.003
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*,

  24, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Muharam, H., Andria, F., & Tosida, E. (2020) Effect of process innovation ad market innovation on financial performance with moderating role of disruptive technology. *Systematic Review Pharmacy*, 11(1), 223–232. https://doi.org/10.5530/srp.2020.1.29
- Naidu, T., & Neil, P. (2018). Re–envisioning member checking and communication results as accountability practice in qualitative research: A South African community–based organization example. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3153
- Nascimento, L., & Steinbruch, F. (2019). The interviews were transcribed, but how?

  Reflections on management research. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *54*(4), 413–

- 429. https://doi.org/10.1108/RAUSP-05-2019-0092
- Nel, P., & Abdullah, M. A. (2019). Mediating effects of business success on the relation between business issues and business prospects amongst immigrant entrepreneurs in Malaysia. *Contemporary Management Research*, *13*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.7903/cmr.16380
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Oberoi, R. (2018). Benchmarking sustainability: Study of initiatives towards triple bottom line by Indian public–sector enterprises. *Asia–Pacific Journal of Management Research and Innovation*, 10(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/2319510X14529485
- O'Leary, Z. (2018). Research proposal: Little quick fix. Sage.
- Ollila, S., & Yström, A. (2020). An investigation into the roles of open innovation collaboration managers. *R&D Management*, *47*(2). 236. https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12197
- Onkelinx, J., Manolova, T.S. & Edelman, L.F. (2018). The human factor: Investments in employee human capital, productivity, and SME internationalization. *Journal of International Management*, 22(4). 351–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2016.05.002
- Orlova, L. S. (2020). Open innovation theory: Definition, instruments, frameworks. Strategičeskie Rešeniâ i Risk–Menedžment, 10(4), 396–409.

- https://doi.org/10.17747/2618-947X-2019-4-396-409
- Othman, Z., & Abdul Hamid, F. (2018). Dealing with un(expected) ethical dilemma: Experience from the field. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(4), 733–741. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160–3715/2018.3050
- Panggabean, T., & Jermias, J. (2020). Mitigating agency problems using the balanced scorecard. *Journal of Theoretical Accounting Research*, *15*(2), 72–91. Retrieved from https://search-ebscohost com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=142097759&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Pantelica, D., Sakalb, M., & Zehetner, A. (2018). Marketing and sustainability from the perspective of future decision makers. *South Africa Journal of Business*Management, 47(1), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajbm.v47i1.51
- Philip, L. & Williams, F. (2019). Remote rural home–based businesses and digital inequalities: Understanding needs and expectations in a digitally underserved community. Journal of Rural Studies, 68(5), 306–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.09.011
- Phillipson, J., Tiwasing, P., Gorton, M., Maioli, S., Newbery, R., & Turner, R. (2019). Shining a spotlight on small rural businesses: How does their performance compare with urban? *Journal of Rural Studies*, 68(5), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.09.017
- Picardi, C. A. (2019). Recruitment and selection: Strategies for workforce planning & assessment (1st ed.). SAGE Publications.

- Polinkevych, O., Khovrak, I., Trynchuk, V., Klapkiv, Y., & Volynets, I. (2021). Business risk management in times of crises and pandemics. *Montenegrin Journal of Economics*, 17(3), 99–109. https://doi.org/10.14254/1800-5845/2021.17-3.8
- Popoola, S. I., Atayero, A. A., Badejo, J. A., John, T. M., Odukoya, J. A., & Omole, D.O. (2018). Learning analytics for smart campus: Data on academic performances of engineering undergraduates in Nigerian private university. *Data in Brief, 17*, 76–94. https://doi.org/101016201712059
- Potdar, B., Garry, T., McNeill, L., Gnoth, J., Pandey, R., Mansi, M., & Guthrie, J. (2020).

  Retail employee guardianship behaviour: A phenomenological investigation.

  Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 54, 102017.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.102017
- Potts, J. (2018). Strategies to sustain small retail business more than 5 years (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 10743069)
- Preghenella, N. & Battistella, C. (2021). Exploring business models for sustainability, A bibliographic investigation of the literature and future research directions.

  \*Business Strategy and the Environment\*, 30. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2760
- Prior, L. (2020). Content analysis. In P. Leavy (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of qualitative*research (pp. 539–568). Oxford University Press.

  https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190847388.013.25
- Quansah, E., & Hartz, D. E. (2021). Strategic adaptation: Leadership lessons for small business survival and success. *American Journal of Business*, *37*(5), 17–19.

- https://doi.org/10.1108/ajb-07-2020-0096
- Ratten, V. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19) and entrepreneurship: Changing life and work landscape. *Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship*, 32(5), 503–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2020.1790167
- Ren, C. (2022). Strategic aggressiveness and innovation. Frontiers in business, *Economics and Management*, (6). 45–46. http://doi.org/10.54097/fbem.v6i1.2260
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J.–B. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874–019–0707–y
- Roig-Tierno, N., Kraus, S., & Cruz, S. (2018)The relation between competition and innovation/entrepreneurship. *Springer Nature*, 12. 379–383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-017-0266-8
- Rozmi, Anis & Nohuddin, Puteri & Hadi, Abdul & Bakar, Mohd. (2021). Identifying Small and Medium Enterprise Smart Entrepreneurship Training Framework Components using Thematic Analysis and Expert Review. International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications. 12. https://doi.org/10.14569/IJACSA.2021.0120633
- Rusu, D., & Frangieh, M. (2021) Leadership strategies for implementing innovation in Romanian SMEs. *The Journal of Organizational Management Studies*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.5171/2021.143064
- Sabella, A. R., & Eid, N. L. (2018). A strategic perspective of social enterprise

- sustainability. *Journal of General Management*, 41(4), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/030630701604100405
- Sadgrove, K. (2020). The complete guide to business risk management (3rd ed.).

  Routledge.
- Saks, M. J. (2018). Methodological triangulation. *Nature Human Behavior*, *2*(11), 806–807. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562–018–0458–5
- Saldaña, J. (2018). Researcher, analyze thyself. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 23, 2036–2046. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918801717
- Salemink, K., Strijker, D., & Bosworth, G. (2018). Rural development in the digital age:

  A systematic literature review on unequal ICT availability, adoption, and use in rural areas. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *54*(8), 360–371.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2015.09.001
- Santoro, G., Bresciani, S., & Papa, A. (2020) Collaborative modes with cultural and creative industries and innovation performance: the moderating role of heterogeneous sources of knowledge and absorptive capacity. *Technovation*, 2020, 92–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.06.003
- Sarmiento, J. P., Hoberman, G., Jerath, M., & Ferreira Jordao, G. (2020). Disaster risk management and business education: The case of small and medium enterprises. *Ad–Minister*, 28, 73–90. http://doi.org/10.17230/ad–minister.28.4
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). Research methods for business students (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Schaefer, K., Corner, P.D., & Kearins, K. (2019). Social, environmental and sustainable

- entrepreneurship research: What is needed for sustainability—as—flourishing? Organization & Environment, 28(4), 394—413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615621111
- Schaltegger, S., Lüdeke–Freund, F., & Hansen, E. G. (2018). Business models for sustainability: A co–evolutionary analysis of sustainable entrepreneurship, innovation, and transformation. *Organization & Environment*, 29(3), 264–289. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026616633272
- Schneider, C., Vis, B., & Koivu, K. (2019). Summary: Set—analytic approaches, especially qualitative comparative analysis (QCA). SSRN. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3333483
- Schreck, P., & Raithel, S. (2018). Corporate social performance, firm size, and organizational visibility: Distinct and joint effects on voluntary sustainability reporting. *Business & Society*, *57*(4), 742–778.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650315613120
- Seijts, G. H., & Gandz, J. (2018). Transformational change and leader character. *Business Horizons*, 61(2), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.11.005
- Sejfijaj, Osman & Shehu, Ermira & Memaj, Fatmir. (2019). Employee's performance as a result of satisfaction, innovation and empowerment by managers. https://doi.org/10.31410/EMAN.2019.193
- Seyhan, Mehmet & Çiğdem, Şemsettin & Yıldız, Bülent & Meidute–Kavaliauskiene,

  Ieva. (2021). Supply Chain Innovation: Past, Present, And Future. Independent

  Journal of Management & Production. 12. 2094–2116.

- https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v12i8.1490
- Sharma, N., & Agrawal, R. (2019). Locating a wind energy project: A case of a leading oil and gas producer in India. *Vision*, 21(2), 172–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262917709390
- Sharma, P. (2019). Services in virtual world: Understanding work in delivery service of e–retailing. *Management and Labour Studies 42*(4), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0258042X17731978
- Siltaoja, M., Malin, V., & Pyykkönen, M. (2019). 'We are all responsible now':

  Governmentality and responsible subjects in corporate social responsibility.

  Management Learning, 46(4), 444–460.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1350507614541199
- Šimelytė, Agnė & Tvaronavičienė, Manuela & Holmen, Rasmus & Burinskas, Arūnas & Razminienė, Kristina. (2021). Knowledge and technology transfer as driving force for social innovations. Polish Journal of Management Studies. 23. 512–536. https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2021.23.2.31
- Smith, T. M. (2019). Climate change: Corporate sustainability in the supply chain.

  \*Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 69(3), 43–52.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0096340213487310
- Starcher, R., Dzubinski, L. M., & Sanchez, J. N. (2018). Rigorous missiological research using qualitative inquiry. *Missiology: An International Review*, 46(1), 50–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091829617741911
- Susskind, A. M. (2018). Guests' reactions to in-room sustainability initiatives: An

- experimental look at product performance and guest satisfaction. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *55*(3), 228–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965514533744
- Tafvelin, S., Nielsen, K., Abildgaard, J. S., Richter, A., Von Thiele Schwarz, U., &
   Hasson, H. (2019). Leader–team perceptual distance affects outcomes of
   leadership training: Examining safety leadership and follower safety self–
   efficacy. Safety Science, 120(1), 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2019.06.019
- Tajir, A. G. (2018). Ethical treatment of participants in public health research. *Journal of Public Health & Emergency*, 2(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.21037/jphe.2017.12.04
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2019). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, T. (2020). Employee advocacy as a marketing strategy to power brand promotion: an employee perspective. *Marketing and Management of Innovations*, 2, 167–181. https://doi.org/10.21272/mmi.2020.2-12
- Timans, R., Wouters, P., & Heilbron, J. (2019). Mixed methods research: What it is and what it could be. *Theory and Society*, 48, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11186-019-09345-5
- Townsend, K., Kent, A., & Sadkowska, A. (2019). Fashioning clothing with and for mature women: A small–scale sustainable design business model. *Management Decision*, 57(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1108/md–12–2016–0942
- Turcotte-Tremblay, A., & McSween-Cadieux, E. (2018). A reflection on the challenge

- of protecting confidentiality of participants while disseminating research results locally. *BioMed Central Medical Ethics*, *19*(1), 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0279-0
- Turkmen, A. (2020). COVID-19's effects on Turkish online retail consumers' retail website visiting behavior. *Gaziantep University Journal of Social Sciences*, 19(COVID-19 special issue), 767–779. https://doi.org/10.21547/jss.782996
- Tyapukhin, A. (2022). Structure of the principles of innovation management.

  \*Administrative Consulting\*, 2022(9), 95–105. http://doi.org/10.22394/1726–1139–2022–9–95–105
- Uitto, J. (2018). Evaluating the environment as a global public good. *Evaluation*, 22(1), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389015623135
- United States Department of Agriculture (U.S.D.A.). (2023). *What is*rural?https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/rural-economy-population/ruralclassifications/what-is-rural/
- Untaru, E., & Han, H. (2021). Protective measures against COVID-19 and the business strategies of the retail enterprises: Differences in gender, age, education, and income among shoppers. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 60, Article 102446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102446
- U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy. (2023). Frequently asked questions of small business, March 2023. https://advocacy.sba.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Frequently-Asked-Questions-About-Small-Business-March-2023-508c.pdf

- Van–Rensburg, W., & Head, B. W. (2019). Climate change skepticism: Reconsidering how to respond to core criticisms of climate science and policy. *Sage Open*, 7(4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017748983
- Verma, J. P., & Verma, P. (2020). Determining sample size and power in research studies: *A manual for researchers* (1st ed.). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–981–15–5204–5\_3
- Veronesi, D. (2019). "But you're gonna ask me questions, right?": Interactional frame and "for-the-record" orientation in language biography interviews. In K. Roulston (Ed.), *Interactional studies of qualitative research interviews* (pp. 181–200). John Benjamins. https://doi.org/10.1075/z.220.08ver
- Vilkaité–Vaitoné, N., & Sologubas, S. (2019). Strategic planning of marketing communications in the digital age: an empirical study of small and medium freight transport companies. *Journal of Business Administration Research* 2(4). https://doi.org/10.30564/jbar.v2i4.1014
- Vlados, C. (2019). On a correlative and evolutionary SWOT analysis, *Journal of Strategy* and Management, 12(3), 347–363. https://doi.org/10.1108/jsma-02-2019-0026
- Vu, H. M., & Nwachukwu, C. (2020). Strategic flexibility, strategic leadership, and business sustainability nexus. *International Journal of Business Environment*, 11(2), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbe.2020.10029629
- Wahyono, W. (2019). The mediating effects of product innovation in relation between knowledge management and competitive advantage. *Journal of Management Development*, 39(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-11-2018-0331

- Wallis, S. E., & Frese, K. E. (2020). Reaching goals with structured strategic plans.

  Handbook of Systems Sciences, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-0370-8\_64-1
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C. C.,
  & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open–ended interview questions and saturation. *PLOS ONE*, 13(6), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198606
- Widner, J., Woolcock, M., & Nieto, D. (2022). Using case studies to enhance the quality of explanation and implementation. *The case for case studies*, 1–26. Cambridge University Press.
- Williams, A. (2019). Sustainability strategies for small businesses restaurant owners (Doctoral dissertation) Walden University. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu
- Wojan, T., & Parker, T. (2018). Innovation in the rural nonfarm economy: Its effect on job and earnings growth, 2010–2014. *United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, September 2019.* 
  - https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/85191/err-238 summary.pdf?v=0
- Wolgemuth, J., Marn, T., & Sabnis, S. (2022). On the sidelines of what works:

  Scientifically based indifference. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 45:2, 150–163, https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2021.1966620
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine–tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi–racial populations in Malaysia. *Qualitative Report*, *23*(11), 2700–2713.

- https://doi.org/10.467443/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yolles, M. (2018). Sustainability development: Part 2—exploring the dimensions of sustainability development. *International Journal of Markets and Business Systems*, 3(3), 257–275. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijmabs.2018.10014342
- Yu, L., & Artz, G. M. (2019). Does rural entrepreneurship pay? *Small Business Economics*, 53(3), 647–668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187–018–0073–x
- Yun, J., Jung, K., Zhao, X., & Yigitcanlar, T. (2020). The culture for open innovation dynamics. *Sustainability*, 12(5076), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12125076
- Yuniarty, Prabowo, H., & Abdinagoro, S. B. (2021). The role of effectual reasoning in shaping the relationship between managerial—operational capability and innovation performance. *Management Science Letters*, 11, 305–314. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.8.002
- Zahara, Z., Muslimin, M., & Buntuang, P. (2022). The impact of marketing innovations and business plans on business sustainability during the COVID–19 pandemic.
  Innovative Marketing. 18, 121–135. https://doi.org/10.21511/im.18(3).2022.11.
- Zairul, M. (2021). Can member checks be verified in real–time? Introducing ARC (Asking, record, confirm) for member checking validation strategy in qualitative research. *Engineering Journal*, 25(1), 245–251. https://doi.org/10.4186/ej.2021.25.1.245
- Zhang, H. (2022). Does combining different types of innovation always improve SME performance? An analysis of innovation complementarity. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 7(3), Article 100192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2022.100192

Zyphur, M. J., & Pierides, D. C. (2019). Making quantitative research work: From positivist dogma to actual social scientific inquiry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *167*(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551–019–04189–6

### Appendix A: Interview Protocol

I will introduce myself to the participants and explain the purpose and scope of the research study. I will assure participants that all information collected during the interview will be confidential. I will inform the participants of the right to stop the interview at any time.

Topic of the Study. Strategies for Integrating Open Innovation Practices for Small Businesses

Research Question. What strategies do small business owners use to implement open innovation?

Inform Consent. Prior to the interview, I will provide the consent letter to each participant and verify that I received written consent back via email. Upon completing the interview, I will thank the participant. I will gather any additional documents; take note for on–field observation. I will request a follow–up meeting for member checking.

Member Checking. Conduct the follow—up interview in person. Provide a copy of the transcript for the interview. Examine the participant each question answered during the past interview. After the evaluation, I will ask: Did I misunderstand anything? Or, is there any information you would like to change or add? Conclude the follow—up section. I want to thank you for taking the time to complete the interview and follow—up section.

# Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. How would you define the term, open innovation?
- 2. What skills do you think are necessary to implement open innovation strategies into your current business model?
- 3. What specific strategies would you use to implement open innovation into your current business model?
- 4. What adjustments to the strategies would you make if the open innovation implementation was not successful?
- 5. How could open innovation potentially create a competitive market advantage for businesses that have developed successful implementation strategies?
- 6. How could open innovation potentially create long–term sustainability for small businesses?
- 7. Is there anything about open innovation that we have not already discussed that you would like to include?